Improving Necropsy Methods of Stranded Marine Mammals Using Remote Sensing Techniques

Brendan P. Cottrell, Department of Geography, McGill University, Montreal

June 2024

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of Master of Science in Geography

©Brendan Cottrell 2024

Table of Contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgementsiii
Contribution of Authors iv
List of Figuresv
List of Tables vii
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1.1 Historical Context of Stranding Research1
1.2 Ecological Significance of Marine Mammals and Strandings
1.3 Anthropogenic Impacts on Marine Mammals4
1.4 Necropsies as a Tool to Monitor Strandings6
1.5 The Use of Remote Sensing Tools to Monitor Marine Mammals and Strandings9
1.6 The Current Scope of 3D Reconstruction Technology and Applications
1.7 Research Objectives
Chapter 2. Literature Review: 3D Reconstructions of Marine Mammals
2.1 Skeletal Reconstructions and 3D Printing17
2.2 Medical Imaging for the Purpose of 3D Reconstruction
2.3 3D Reconstruction for Estimating Form of Free-Ranging Marine Mammals19
2.4 3D Reconstruction of Stranded Marine Mammals During Postmortem Examination21
2.5 Current State of the Research and Gaps
Chapter 3. 3D Reconstructions of Stranded Marine Mammals Using Accessible Remote Sensing Tools for Use in Morphometric Measurements and Visualizations
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction

3.3 Materials and Methods	29
3.3.1 Study Area	29
3.3.2 3D Model Reconstruction Background	30
3.3.3 Marine Mammal Specimens Examined	32
3.3.3.1 Validation of Reference Measurements	34
3.3.3.2 Large Whale Specimens Collected	35
3.3.3.3 Dolphin Specimens Collected	36
3.3.3.4 Porpoise Specimens Collected	36
3.3.3.5 Carnivore Specimens Collected	37
3.3.4 LiDAR Data Acquisition and Processing	
3.3.5 Structure-from-Motion Photogrammetry Acquisition and Processing	
3.3.6 Data Processing Workflow and Visualization	
3.3.7 Morphometric Measurements	42
3.3.8 Web Visualization and Virtual Reality	42
3.4 Results	43
3.4.1 Validation of Model Geometry with Inflatable Whale	43
3.4.2 Large Whales	44
3.4.3 Dolphins and Porpoises	49
3.4.4 Sea Otter, Northern Fur Seal, and Harbour Seal	56
3.4.5 Web Application and Virtual Reality	59
3.5 Discussion	60
3.6 Conclusion	64
3.7 Supplementary Information	66
3.8 References	

Chapter 4. Summary and Conclusions	78
4.1 Summary	78
4.2 Broader Discussion and Implications	78
4.3 Future Directions	84
4.4 Conclusions	85
Reference List	87

Abstract

Marine mammals serve as indicators of ocean health, reflecting the complex dynamics of marine ecosystems. This thesis explores the integration of 3D reconstruction technology in marine mammal stranding research, with a focus on its application in necropsies to enhance morphometric measurements and improve documentation. Utilizing accessible remote sensing tools, including mobile phones equipped with LiDAR sensors, this study evaluates the effectiveness of 3D reconstructions across ten marine mammal species under diverse environmental conditions including remote necropsies of large whales and more controlled laboratory necropsies of small marine mammals. Key findings demonstrate that 3D scanning not only augments traditional necropsy procedures by providing precise, non-invasive anatomical data but also reveals critical insights into the health and pathology of stranded marine mammals, thereby enhancing our scientific understanding of their responses to environmental and anthropogenic stressors. The implementation of this technology facilitates rapid, accessible assessments crucial for immediate conservation actions in remote areas, promoting broader community engagement and fostering collaborative research and effective conservation strategies. This research highlights the transformative potential of accessible technology in marine conservation, suggesting pathways for future advancements in marine mammal research and management.

Les mammifères marins servent d'indicateurs de la santé des océans, reflétant la dynamique complexe des écosystèmes marins. Cette thèse explore l'intégration de la technologie de numérisation 3D dans la recherche sur les échouages de mammifères marins, en se concentrant sur son application lors des nécropsies pour améliorer les mesures morphométriques et la documentation. En utilisant des outils de télédétection accessibles, y compris des téléphones mobiles équipés de capteurs LiDAR, cette étude évalue l'efficacité des reconstructions 3D sur dix espèces de mammifères marins dans des conditions environnementales variées. Les principales conclusions démontrent que la numérisation 3D non seulement complète les procédures de nécropsie traditionnelles en fournissant des données anatomiques précises et non invasives, mais révèle également des informations cruciales sur la santé et la pathologie des mammifères marins échoués, améliorant ainsi notre compréhension scientifique de leurs réponses aux stress

environnementaux et anthropiques. La mise en œuvre de cette technologie facilite des évaluations rapides et accessibles, cruciales pour des actions de conservation immédiates dans les zones éloignées, en favorisant un engagement communautaire plus large et en encourageant la recherche collaborative et des stratégies de conservation efficaces. Cette recherche met en lumière le potentiel transformateur des technologies accessibles dans la conservation marine, suggérant des voies pour de futures avancées dans la recherche et la gestion des mammifères marins.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to everyone who has supported and guided me throughout the journey of completing this thesis.

First and foremost, I extend my heartfelt thanks to my supervisor, Professor Dr. Margaret Kalacska at McGill University. Her unwavering support, insightful guidance, and encouragement have been instrumental in the successful completion of this work. I am immensely grateful for her mentorship and the invaluable knowledge she has imparted to me.

I am also profoundly grateful to Oliver Lucanus of the Applied Remote Sensing Laboratory. His expertise and assistance have been pivotal in the development and execution of this research. His dedication and willingness to help have been greatly appreciated.

A special thanks to Dr. Juan Pablo Arroyo-Mora, who works at the National Research Council of Canada at the Flight Research Laboratory. His support and contributions have been crucial to the progress of this project, and I am deeply thankful for his collaboration.

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to Dr. Stephen Raverty, veterinary pathologist and adjunct professor at UBC, for his invaluable support in coordinating the necropsies of marine mammals. His expertise and dedication have been essential to this research.

My gratitude also goes to Taylor Lehnhart of the Department of Fisheries and Oceans for assisting with necropsy efforts. His assistance has been essential, and I am thankful for his dedication and hard work.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout this journey. Their love and understanding have been a constant source of strength and motivation for me.

Thank you all for your support, without which this thesis would not have been possible.

Contribution of Authors

This thesis is presented in manuscript-based thesis format. It is arranged around one main results chapter (Chapter 3), which is written as a manuscript to be submitted for publication. The thesis also contains an introduction (Chapter 1) and literature review (Chapter 2) and a concluding chapter (Chapter 4). It is the original work of Brendan Cottrell with a few exceptions. I have developed the research objectives, carried out the data collection, analyzed the results and wrote the manuscript as the lead author. My supervisor Dr. Margaret Kalacska as well as Dr. Juan Pablo Arroyo-Mora provided expert advice on the development of the project from its inception as well as editing the manuscript and thesis. Data collection for all marine mammal necropsies was made possible by Dr. Stephen Raverty who also edited the manuscript. Oliver Lucanus provided insight into equipment use as well as editing the manuscript. Taylor Lehnhart and Paul Cottrell also assisted in conducting the necropsies that allowed for data collection to be possible.

List of Figures

Figure 10: 3D reconstruction of a Risso's dolphin with necropsy conducted as part of a training
exercise with community partners. (a) Measurement of straightline length of the animal. (b)
Animal laying on left side. (c) Animal laying on right side
Figure 11: 3D reconstruction of a striped dolphin that live stranded in Ucluelet and was euthanized.
(a) Measurement of straightline length of the animal. (b) Removal of external blubber layer. (c)
Carcass with organ systems removed. (d) Digestive system. (e) Pluck including goosebeak. (f)
Reniculate (lobed) kidney seen in marine mammals
Figure 12: 3D reconstruction of a Dall's porpoise. (a) Measurement of straightline length of the
animal. (b) Removal of external blubber layer. (c) Carcass with organ systems visible. (d)
Digestive system. (e) Pluck including goosebeak. (f) Testes. (g) Reniculate (lobed) kidney seen in
marine mammals
Figure 13: 3D reconstruction of an adult and calf harbour porpoise. (a) Measurement of straightline
length of the adult harbour porpoise. (b) Carcass with organ systems visible. (c) Carcass with organ
systems removed. (d) Digestive system. (e) Testes. (f) Heart. (g) Pluck including gooseback. (A)
Measurement of straightline length of harbour porpoise calf. (B) Carcass with blubber flensed. (C)
Carcass with organ systems removed. (D) Pluck. (E) Digestive system
Figure 14: 3D reconstruction of an adult sea otter, juvenile fur seal and harbour seal pup. (a)
Measurement of straight-line length of adult sea otter (b) Sea otter carcass with organ systems
visible. (c) Sea otter carcass with organ systems removed. (A) Measurement of straight-line length
of the juvenile fur seal. (B) Fur seal carcass with organ systems visible. (C) Fur seal carcass with
organ systems removed. (a) Measurement of straight-line length of harbour seal pup. (β) Harbour
seal carcass with organ systems visible. (γ) Harbour seal carcass with organ systems removed. 57
Figure 15: Navigation and example of the VR environment where students can investigate what
conditions are like during a marine mammal necropsy. (a) The humpback whale shown in VR with
the video outlining the necropsy playing above. (b) The grey whale from Nootka Island relative to
a person navigating the VR environment
Supplementary Figure 1: Typical Marine Mammal Morphometric Sheet

List of Tables

Table 1: Marine mammal specimens used to demonstrate 3D reconstruction capability	33
Table 2: Morphometric measurements of each specimen achieved manually and t	hrough
measurement of the models.	57
Supplementary Table 1: Flight Details From 4 UAV Flights	66
Supplementary Table 2: 3D Model Web Access and DOI's	67

Chapter 1. Introduction

In the vast expanse of our changing oceans, marine mammals serve as critical indicators of ecosystem health (Dierauf et al. 2001). Their strandings, whether due to natural causes or human activities, provide invaluable insights into the intricate dynamics shaping marine environments and, by extension, the entire ecosphere. As we grapple with the challenges of climate change, ecosystem shifts, and human impacts on the biosphere, the study of marine mammal strandings emerges as an increasingly vital field of inquiry. Understanding the health of marine mammals and the causes of their strandings thus transcends mere scientific curiosity; it serves as a crucial gauge of oceanic well-being and resilience. This underscores the significance of necropsies, which offer direct insights into the causes of these strandings and by extension the broader health trends affecting marine populations. Leveraging advancements in remote sensing technologies, this research utilizes 3D reconstructions to enhance the effectiveness of these postmortem examinations for marine mammals, improving morphometric measurements and visualizations to better understand and manage these critical events.

1.1 Historical Context of Stranding Research

The study of marine mammals through their strandings has evolved dramatically over the centuries, marked by key discoveries and technological innovations. Early documentation in the time of antiquity by Pliny the Elder (Denson 2021) and Aristotle (Cordes 1982) provided initial insights, though steeped in the context of myth and observation without systematic study. This work evolved significantly during the Renaissance, with works in the 16th century by Pierre Belon and Guillaume Rondelet (Romero 2012) providing some of the first scientific descriptions of cetaceans and a variety of other marine mammals. These were early attempts to categorize and describe marine life based on observation and dissection, rather than relying solely on folklore or second-hand accounts.

The 19th century saw a profound expansion in marine mammal research, catalyzed by the commercial whaling industry. Although devastating, whaling expeditions gathered crucial data on marine mammal biology and facilitated the first systematic observations of mass strandings and overall abundance (Baker et al. 2004). These observations began to highlight the complex

interactions between human activities and marine mammal populations, leading to the establishment of the International Whaling Commission (IWC) in 1946 (Gulland 1990). This was a pivotal moment that not only aimed to regulate whaling but also spurred international scientific cooperation and conservation efforts.

Technological advancements in the 20th century brought about significant changes in how strandings were studied. The development of satellite telemetry and geographic information systems (GIS) transformed the tracking and management of marine mammal populations, allowing researchers to identify stranding hotspots and respond more effectively (Citta et al. 2018). Notable events such as the 1989 Exxon Valdez oil spill underscored the importance of rapid response and accurate data collection, as researchers documented the long-term ecological impacts and recovery efforts of the event, which further influenced conservation policies (Peterson 2001; Peterson et al. 2003). The introduction of non-invasive imaging techniques like magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) scans in the late 20th century for zoological efforts (Stoskopf 1989) began to address some of the limitations in studying strandings, providing clearer insights into internal pathologies.

The 21st century has brought significant advancements in marine mammal research, particularly through the integration of new technologies. This period has been characterized by an interdisciplinary approach that merges traditional marine biology with technological innovations. Improved satellite tracking, remote sensing applications, and the use of non-invasive imaging techniques including Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV) have particularly taken off in marine mammal research (Álvarez-González et al. 2023). Additionally, the application of molecular techniques has enabled researchers to study the genetic material of marine mammals from even small samples obtained from stranded individuals (Mancia 2018). The integration of artificial intelligence and machine learning in enhancing predictive modeling of marine mammal behaviors, population dynamics and stranding patterns is also poised to increase in scope and utility (Khan et al. 2023; Duc 2020). The development of more sophisticated bio-logging devices, which can record a wider range of data including physiological responses has improved our ability to study marine mammals in their natural environment (Ropert-Coudert et al. 2009). Furthermore, the growth of citizen science initiatives (Kelly et al. 2020; Pirotta et al. 2020; Stelle 2017) has democratized participation in marine mammal conservation, fostering a broader engagement

across different cultures and communities worldwide. This global perspective has been crucial, as different regions face unique challenges that require tailored action and international cooperation towards marine mammal conservation and stranding response. In the context of strandings, the increasing capability to 3D reconstruct marine mammals holds some of the greatest modern potential in integrating new technology to increase the efficacy and data output of postmortem examinations.

1.2 Ecological Significance of Marine Mammals and Strandings

Marine mammals, situated at or near the apex of their ecosystems, play critical roles in maintaining the structural and functional integrity of marine environments. Their influence extends across nutrient cycling, predator-prey dynamics, and overall ecosystem resilience (Moore 2008). As major consumers, marine mammals regulate the abundance and distribution of prey species, directly shaping energy flows and nutrient pathways within marine food webs. As an example, sea otters serve as a critical component of the otter-urchin-kelp trophic cascade, with their population collapse resulting in explosions in sea urchin populations and the destruction of kelp forests (Fukunaga et al. 2020). Similarly, grey whale feeding significantly influences the structure of benthic invertebrate communities and may also boost the population size of various secondary prey species (Oliver et al. 1985).

The feeding activities and movements of marine mammals are essential for the redistribution of nutrients, enhancing primary productivity and supporting the proliferation of foundational species like phytoplankton (Moss 2017). The deposition of fecal matter by marine mammals introduces significant nutrients back into the ecosystem, catalyzing productivity and supporting a wide range of marine life (Roman et al. 2010). These roles position them as keystone species, where their presence or absence triggers cascading effects on ecosystem structure and stability.

Marine mammals also engage in complex interactions with other marine species, including cooperative feeding strategies and symbiotic relationships, which further influence ecological and evolutionary trajectories within marine ecosystems (Estes 2009). For example, in the western Arctic, walruses not only diminish prey biomass but also create pits in the substrate that gather detritus, thereby supporting a detritivore-based food web (Ray et al. 2006). The study of deceased marine mammals through strandings, therefore, not only sheds light on the health of individual

species but also illuminates broader ecological patterns and challenges. This research underscores the importance of preserving marine mammal populations as indicators and regulators of marine health, pivotal for the sustainability of our oceans.

Strandings provide a direct window into these dynamics and help scientists observe the immediate and long-term ecological impacts of such events. The decomposition of stranded marine mammals also can create significant nutrient pulses that enrich local environments and temporarily alter the distribution and abundance of nearby marine organisms (Benbow et al. 2020). These events can serve as natural experiments, providing insights into nutrient cycling and the ecological importance of marine mammals. The absence of these high trophic level animals due to increased strandings can lead to overpopulation of prey species, disrupting traditional predator-prey relationships and potentially leading to imbalances that affect the stability of the whole marine ecosystem (McCauley et al. 2015). Through strandings, researchers gain invaluable data on how such disruptions can influence ecological resilience and stability. Further, the ability to reconstruct these animals and events in 3D provides a lesser explored improvement to what data can be collected and studied during these strandings.

1.3 Anthropogenic Impacts on Marine Mammals

Human activities exert significant pressures on marine mammal populations, profoundly impacting their well-being and increasing the incidence of strandings. Habitat destruction, a consequence of coastal development, maritime transport, and industrial activities, threatens critical marine mammal habitats such as breeding grounds, feeding areas, and migratory corridors (Harwood 2001). These disruptions force marine mammals into unfamiliar and often hazardous environments, increasing their vulnerability to strandings (Fleishman et al. 2016). Pollution poses another grave threat to marine mammals, with plastic debris, chemical contaminants, and noise pollution from shipping and industrial activities wreaking havoc on their health and behaviors. Due to their extended lifespans, central role in the food chain, and large lipid deposits, marine mammals are especially susceptible to serious health threats from the buildup of contaminants. Ingestion of plastics can cause internal injuries or blockages (Kühn et al. 2020), with the outcomes of microplastic exposure not yet fully understood. In one systematic review of microplastic research on marine mammals (Zantis et al. 2021), all but one of 30 studies found microplastics present in the gastrointestinal tracts of the specimens studied. Other contaminants such as

persistent organic pollutants (POP) and heavy metals contribute heavily to declining marine mammal health, with an estimated 60% of all marine mammal species threatened by this pollution (Schaap et al. 2023).

Noise pollution from ships and other anthropogenic activity disrupts communication and foraging behaviors, disorienting marine mammals and increasing the likelihood of stranding events (Simmonds et al. 2014). The growing intersection of marine vessels and marine mammals also contributes to increased collisions which cause physical trauma or death (Schoeman et al. 2020). Overfishing exacerbates the challenges faced by marine mammals, depleting prey populations vital for their survival, with 60% of the world's exploited fish and shellfish stocks being either fished to capacity, overfished, or recovering from overfishing (Goñi 1998). As prey becomes scarcer if these fishing practices continue, marine mammals experience nutritional stress, reduced reproductive success, and heightened competition for limited resources (Trites et al. 1997; Moore 2013), making them more susceptible to strandings. Additionally, entanglement in fishing gear pose significant risks to marine mammals. This manifests not only as the increasingly recognized problem of bycatch (Reeves et al. 2013), but also in static gear such as buoy lines and traps (Hamilton and Baker 2019), and aquaculture pens (Storlund et al. 2024). Entanglement can result in severe injuries, drowning, or prolonged distress (De Vere et al. 2018), with the abrasive impact of fishing gear on tissues well characterized in for example large whales (Woodward et al. 2006). Climate change further compounds these threats by altering oceanic conditions, such as sea surface temperature, salinity, and ocean acidification, disrupting marine mammal habitats and food sources. Direct observations of various marine mammal populations have displayed responses to climate change (Simmonds et al. 2007). Some species and populations are particularly at risk, including those with restricted habitat ranges, such as the vaquita, and those that rely on sea ice as a crucial component of their habitat such as grey whales (Gailey et al. 2020). These anthropogenic impacts not only increase mortality rates but also contribute to the incidence of strandings as marine mammals struggle to adapt to changing environments. Understanding the intricate interactions between human activities and marine mammal populations is paramount for developing effective conservation strategies and mitigating the impacts of anthropogenic threats on these animals. This is also an especially important use case for 3D reconstruction, which provides a new opportunity to image animals that have been impacted directly by anthropogenic factors. The most outwardly severe of these being vessel strike and entanglement, further

understanding of the dynamics between this human activity and marine mammals can be further improved with this technology and thus impacts mitigated.

1.4 Necropsies as a Tool to Monitor Strandings

Necropsies, also known as postmortem examinations, are indispensable for analyzing the health and determining the causes of death within marine mammal populations, which are inherently difficult to study due to their aquatic habitats and wide-ranging behaviors (Nowacek et al. 2016). These systematic procedures, conducted by trained veterinarians and researchers, involve detailed dissection and inspection of deceased animals, offering critical insights that are either challenging or impossible to obtain through live observation. The process includes a comprehensive examination of the animal's anatomy, meticulously documenting findings such as lesions, or other external and internal indicators of health. This data, combined with supplemental diagnostic tests like histopathology, microbiology, and serology, enhances the diagnostic accuracy of necropsies. These examinations are crucial for detecting trauma, abnormalities, and assessing the impacts of threats such as vessel strikes and entanglement in fishing gear (Rowles et al. 2001).

Beyond their diagnostic value, necropsies contribute significantly to scientific knowledge by advancing our understanding of marine mammal anatomy, physiology, and pathology. These examinations provide critical data on mortality factors and the impacts of various threats, including environmental contaminants and infectious diseases. "Forever" chemicals such as poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are contemporary chemicals that have been detected during necropsies with emerging concern for adverse health impacts for both marine mammals and humans (Fair et al. 2018). Highly pathogenic viruses such as avian influenza have also been detected in marine mammals (Leguia et al. 2023), with this information vital to tracking the progression of these viruses through both different populations and species. These threats detected during necropsies are particularly significant as they not only affect marine life but also have the potential to impact human health. Necropsies thus play a pivotal role in safeguarding public health and environmental integrity by detecting and monitoring the presence of these transmissible diseases and contaminants. They are also crucial in legal contexts, where findings from necropsies provide essential evidence in investigations related to oil spills, entanglements, vessel strikes, and other anthropogenic impacts. Examples of evidence are findings such as the ingestion of fishing gear or plastics but also signs of interactions including lacerations or tissue damage that aligns

with known types of trauma which can be plausibly linked to human interactions (Stolen 2021). This legal evidence is instrumental in shaping policies and litigation aimed at protecting marine environments.

By elucidating the mechanisms underlying mortality events, necropsies inform targeted conservation efforts and management strategies aimed at mitigating threats to marine mammal populations. For example, necropsy results were instrumental in identifying the specific toxins responsible for the mass mortality event of sea lions along the Californian coast, linking their deaths to domoic acid poisoning from algal blooms (Lefebvre et al. 1999). Such findings are essential for wildlife managers and conservationists to track health trends, detect emerging threats, and implement targeted conservation measures.

Despite the value of these examinations, challenges persist, particularly in diagnosing the causes of strandings accurately. Traditional necropsy methods are often hindered by the decomposition of specimens and logistical difficulties in accessing remote stranding sites. This not only makes the transportation and handling of carcasses cumbersome but also often leads to delays that can compromise the integrity of biological samples and the accuracy of subsequent analyses. The variability in expertise among responders also can affect the quality and consistency of data collected, leading to gaps in the standardized collection of information. This is compounded by the sporadic nature of strandings, which makes systematic study challenging and sometimes results in missed opportunities to collect valuable data. Another significant gap is the limited ability to detect and analyze sub-lethal pathologies and their long-term impacts on marine mammal health and populations, as current methods are often better suited to identifying immediate causes of death (Raverty et al. 2018).

To address these issues, recent years have seen significant advancements in postmortem examination practices of marine mammals. Key developments include the adoption of advanced imaging techniques such as MRI and CT scans, which provide detailed insights into the internal anatomy and pathology of marine mammals without the invasiveness of traditional necropsies. These non-invasive imaging techniques enable researchers to identify injuries, diseases, and other abnormalities with greater precision, facilitating more accurate diagnoses and formulation of specific treatment plans. For some examples these technologies have been used to accurately detect abnormal gas accumulations in cetaceans and pinnipeds (Dennison et al. 2012), as well as estimate

the anatomy and brain volumes of living California sea lions (Montie et al. 2009). Additionally, portable diagnostic tools, such as handheld ultrasound devices, have begun to be used in field conditions, offering real-time insights that were previously possible only in laboratory settings. One notable example of this is the field identification of bubbles in tissues of beaked whales and dolphins stranded near sonar exercises or caught at depth and hauled to the surface (Dennison et al. 2011).

Another crucial advancement is the integration of molecular techniques into postmortem examinations, including polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and next-generation sequencing (NGS). These technologies enable researchers to detect pathogens swiftly, identify genetic markers associated with specific diseases, and assess the genetic diversity of marine mammal populations. By combining traditional pathological examinations with molecular analyses, researchers gain a comprehensive understanding of the underlying causes of strandings and their implications for population health. This technology has been used and developed to effectively detect emerging morbillivirus infections in marine mammals (Saliki et al. 2002), as well as investigate the use of environmental DNA (eDNA) to genetically monitor marine mammals (Foote et al. 2012).

Recent innovations also include the use of digital pathology tools and machine learning algorithms that help in the detailed analysis of tissue samples. Large-scale databases and digital pathology platforms enable researchers to efficiently catalog and share postmortem findings, facilitating data integration, comparison, and synthesis across different regions and time periods. An important element of this is the application of artificial intelligence and machine learning to improve data analysis methods. These technological innovations support more robust epidemiological studies, trend analyses, and predictive modeling efforts, enhancing our ability to monitor and respond to strandings and associated threats to marine mammal populations. This has been highlighted in recent research on harbour porpoise strandings that used machine learning methods to accurately predict cause of death categories (IJsseldijk et al. 2024).

This field has also benefited from a growing emphasis on collaborative efforts and interdisciplinary approaches, particularly evident in the response to significant recent events such as the mass stranding of pilot whales in New Zealand in 2017. This incident saw nearly 600 whales stranded on Farewell Spit, prompting an extensive rescue and research operation that required the expertise of professionals across various disciplines. Researchers from veterinary medicine, pathology,

marine biology, and conservation science came together to address this crisis. This large-scale collaboration enabled a comprehensive analysis of the stranding (Stockin et al. 2022), combining insights on health assessments, environmental factors, and behavioral studies (Hunter et al. 2017). Such an interdisciplinary approach not only facilitated immediate rescue efforts but also enhanced the subsequent conservation strategies by integrating diverse perspectives and expertise, underscoring the importance of teamwork in responding to complex ecological emergencies involving marine mammals. This experience highlighted how collaborative efforts can lead to more thorough assessments of strandings and better-informed strategies to prevent future incidents.

Despite these advancements, there is still a pressing need for improved protocols, more mobile and adaptable necropsy tools, and enhanced training for first responders. There is also a crucial requirement for better integration of necropsy data into broader marine health monitoring frameworks, which could significantly enhance our understanding of the impacts of environmental changes and human activities on marine mammal populations. Addressing these gaps is essential for advancing marine mammal conservation and management strategies, ultimately helping to mitigate the frequency and severity of strandings.

The use of 3D reconstruction technology is one developing field that has the potential to alleviate some of these gaps in marine mammal stranding research and capacity. Discussed in detail later, this technology is capable of rapid, accessible reconstructions by and for a variety of users and provides a new useful data format for postmortem examinations that provides benefits current methods are unable to output reliably and consistently. As the field of marine mammal research evolves, continued improvements in the integration of necropsy methods with these emerging technologies remains essential. This evolution will ensure the ongoing progression of the field, leading to better conservation strategies and more effective interventions to protect marine mammals globally.

1.5 The Use of Remote Sensing Tools to Monitor Marine Mammals and Strandings

In the study of marine mammal strandings and marine mammals in general, remote sensing technologies have become indispensable tools, providing unique capabilities that greatly enhance our understanding of the factors influencing marine mammals. By tracking the movements, health,

and behaviors of marine mammals over expansive and often inaccessible marine areas, researchers are better equipped to identify the ecological and anthropogenic pressures that contribute to strandings. As we continue to integrate and refine these tools, they hold the potential to revolutionize our approach to understanding marine mammal strandings and ensuring the health of marine ecosystems.

Satellite tracking and telemetry are pivotal in studying marine mammals, particularly for understanding their migration patterns, habitat use, and behavioral ecology. By attaching satellite tags to animals, researchers receive data on their movements over vast oceanic territories, which is invaluable for species that are otherwise difficult to track due to their elusive nature or remote habitats. This technology provides continuous, long-term location data, allowing scientists to monitor individual and group behaviors across different seasons and years, with early efforts of this for marine mammals beginning back in the 1970s and 1980s (Priede et al. 1991). More recently, integration of machine learning with higher resolution satellite imagery has allowed for marine mammals surveys and monitoring via satellite without the use of tags, with models learning from aerial images of animals or other location data (Borowicz et al. 2019; Kapoor et al. 2023). One massive advantage of this is the ability to automate detection and counting, which significantly reduces the manual input labour of scientists conducting these studies and has been applied successfully to many marine mammal species (Rodofili et al. 2022). Geographical Information Systems (GIS) are utilized to perform spatiotemporal analyses of this data, facilitating the mapping of migration routes, critical habitats, and areas of frequent stranding (Norman et al. 2012). GIS helps in identifying environmental variables that correlate with these patterns, such as sea surface temperatures, ice cover, and human activities like shipping lanes and fishing areas (Becker et al. 2010; Pennino et al. 2017; Laidre et al. 2005). The integration of satellite data and GIS continues to enable a detailed and dynamic understanding of marine mammal ecology, strandings, and interactions with humans, aiding in conservation efforts and management decisions.

The use of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) or drones has revolutionized the monitoring of marine mammals, especially in terms of non-invasive data collection. Equipped with high-resolution cameras, UAVs are employed for many purposes, allowing researchers to obtain precise measurements of body size, shape, and health condition of marine mammals from aerial images,

assess abundance and distribution, photo-identify animals, or even take cetacean blow samples (Alvarez-González et al. 2023). UAVs are increasingly used to measure populations (Fettermann et al. 2022), animal distributions (Hodgson et al. 2017), and population group sizes (Sweeney et al. 2016) often providing more accurate estimates than traditional boat-based or land-based methods. The perspective offered by UAVs enhances the detection of individuals in dense groups or underwater, significantly improving the accuracy and efficiency of these assessments and reducing availability bias. UAVs have been used to create extensive photo-identification catalogues of southern right whales (Johnston et al. 2022) and beluga populations (Ryan et al. 2022). Aerial images from UAVs are used extensively to obtain morphometric measurements of marine mammals (Dawson et al. 2017; Dickson et al. 2021; Groskreutz et al. 2019). These metrics are essential for assessing growth patterns, nutritional status, and reproductive health. Morphometric data has even been applied as partial justification for the determination of new species of killer whales in the eastern North Pacific (Morin et al. 2024). UAVs also facilitate the observation of marine mammal behavior without the disturbance that manned vessels may cause, thus enabling more natural behavior studies and insights into social structures and interactions, something particular useful for highly social marine mammals such as dolphins (Karnowski et al. 2016).

Further, UAVs have become invaluable in stranding research. They can quickly cover coastal and hard-to-reach areas, providing rapid assessments of stranded animals, which is critical for timely necropsy or live stranding rehabilitation efforts. UAVs also aid in the documentation of stranding events, capturing detailed images and videos that help determine the spatial distribution of strandings and possible environmental contributors. UAVs have been applied to detect stranded animals effectively in Brazil as a cost-effective alternative to traditional beach monitoring (Pontalti et al. 2022). This capability is crucial for identifying stranding patterns and potential hotspots. In addition, UAVs can monitor the progression and aftermath of stranding events, offering insights into survivorship and predator-prey interactions post-stranding.

Lastly, 3D reconstruction technology is a particularly promising remote sensing tool in enhancing necropsy efforts for marine mammals. This technology enables the creation of precise, threedimensional models that provide a detailed view of anatomical features. By integrating this technology with traditional necropsy practices, researchers can achieve a more nuanced analysis of strandings, significantly improving the accuracy and depth of their examinations. This not only enriches our understanding of marine mammal anatomy but also serves as a valuable educational and research resource. The following text delves deeper into how 3D reconstruction operates, and how it specifically can further develop and support marine mammal necropsies.

1.6 The Current Scope of 3D Reconstruction Technology and Applications

The advent of 3D reconstruction technology has marked a significant milestone in the evolution of digital imaging and modeling, offering profound implications across various fields from archaeology and architecture to forensic science and biological research. At the core of this technological leap are several methods, notably LiDAR and photogrammetry, which use reconstruction algorithms that synergistically create highly detailed and accurate 3D models of physical scenes and objects, including animals.

LiDAR, or Light Detection and Ranging, is a cutting-edge remote sensing technology that has revolutionized the way 3D models are created across various fields (Dong et al. 2017). This technology uses a laser to reconstruct environments and objects, capturing fine details at great distances with remarkable accuracy (Wandinger 2005). The versatility and precision of LiDAR make it an indispensable tool in many industries, from urban planning and forestry management to autonomous vehicle development and archaeological research (Desai et al. 2021; Bauwens et al. 2016; Chio et al. 2021; Losè et al. 2022).

LiDAR operates by emitting laser pulses (850-940 nm for terrestrial, 500-750 nm for bathymetry) toward the target area and measuring the time it takes for each pulse to reflect back to the sensor. This time-of-flight data is used to calculate distances, which are then compiled to produce a dense set of elevation points known as a point cloud. These point clouds provide detailed and accurate 3D representations of the scanned environment, capturing natural and manmade features with high fidelity (Lehtola et al. 2021; Askar et al. 2023; Slavík et al. 2023). Modern LiDAR systems are often integrated with GPS and IMU (Inertial Measurement Units) to enhance the accuracy of location and orientation data, enabling precise georeferencing of the point clouds (Lopac et al. 2022).

In environmental sciences, LiDAR technology excels in creating detailed 3D models of various ecosystems, facilitating enhanced study and conservation efforts. By generating accurate

topographic maps and biomass assessments, LiDAR allows ecologists to conduct detailed analyses of habitat conditions, species distribution, and environmental changes over time (Guo et al. 2021; Simonson et al. 2014). This capability is crucial for monitoring deforestation, studying habitat fragmentation, and implementing restoration projects effectively. Furthermore, LiDAR is increasingly used to model complex natural objects and animal forms in their natural habitats, for example in morphometric measurements of horses and cattle (Pérez-Ruiz et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2018). Researchers use LiDAR to capture the intricate details of animal morphology, which is essential for biological studies and conservation planning. These models provide valuable insights into the physical characteristics and functional mechanics of different species, helping scientists to understand evolutionary processes and species-specific behaviors. This is particularly valuable in studying endangered species and rare creatures. LiDAR has been effectively utilised to create reference collections of an abundance of different modern animal skeletons (Niven et al. 2009). This application extends to paleontology where LiDAR helps in the 3D scanning of fossilized remains embedded in rock, allowing scientists to extract and study fossils without physical excavation that might damage the specimens, in addition to rendering volumetric reconstructions of long extinct animals such as dinosaurs (Bates et al. 2010). The precision of LiDAR models enables detailed anatomical studies and enhances our understanding of the physical structure and environmental adaptation of various species, both living and extinct.

Photogrammetry is the art and science of extracting reliable physical information from photographs. Structure-from-motion (SfM) photogrammetry is based on the principle that the three-dimensional coordinates of points on an object can be determined by measurements made in two or more photographic images taken from different positions (Turner et al. 2012; Eltner et al. 2020). By utilizing photographs taken from different angles, SfM, when combined with other algorithms such as Multi-View Stereo (MVS) (Xiao et al. 2016) enables the creation of precise three-dimensional models of physical objects and landscapes, bridging the gap between the real world and digital interpretation (Ullman et al. 1997). The process involves several stages, starting with the planning of the image capture to ensure comprehensive coverage of the subject. This is followed by the actual capture, where consistency in lighting and overlap between images are key factors. The images are then processed using specialized software that identifies common points between overlapping images and reconstructs the 3D coordinates of these points, forming a point cloud. This point cloud is then used to generate a mesh of polygons, often followed by texturing,

which overlays the photographs' textures onto the mesh to create a realistic 3D model (Liu et al. 2023).

One of the main strengths of SfM photogrammetry is its versatility and accessibility, making it a valuable tool in ecological studies and wildlife research. It is widely used in ecology to create detailed models of natural habitats, allowing ecologists to study complex ecosystems and interactions without disturbing the environment. For example, SfM has been used to characterize the structural complexity of coral reefs in 3D (Burns et al. 2015). Similarly, in wildlife conservation, SfM photogrammetry allows for the non-invasive monitoring of animal populations, enabling researchers to measure and track changes in animal morphology over time. Terrestrial mammals from 16 different species have had their mass estimated effectively from 3D photogrammetry in one study from South Africa (Postma et al. 2015). SfM 3D reconstruction has been applied to many other live animals including frogs, turtles, and porpoises (Grayburn et al. 2019). In doing so, photogrammetry helps enhance our understanding of animal morphology, contributing to more effective data collection and conservation strategies.

Reconstruction algorithms are at the heart of 3D imaging technology, transforming raw data from various sensing technologies into detailed and actionable 3D models. These algorithms are critical in fields ranging from mobile device applications to large-scale environmental monitoring, each tailored to optimize data from specific sources such as LiDAR or SfM photogrammetric imagery.

Iterative Closest Point (ICP) is one of the fundamental algorithms used for aligning multiple 3D data sets, especially in LiDAR scanning (He et al. 2017). It works by iteratively adjusting the alignment of data points from different scans to minimize the total distance between corresponding points. This is essential in applications where multiple scans of an object or area are taken from different angles, as it ensures that the resulting 3D model is as accurate and coherent as possible. The ICP algorithm has been utilized effectively in cases such as monitoring the quality of livestock which are generally evaluated based on their body form and weight (Kwon and Mun 2022).

Simultaneous Localization and Mapping (SLAM), another sophisticated algorithm, is crucial for mobile 3D scanning applications, such as those used in newer smartphones equipped with LiDAR sensors. SLAM allows devices to build a map of an unknown environment while simultaneously keeping track of their own location within that map (Thrun 2008). This dual capability makes

SLAM ideal for mobile applications, augmented reality (AR) applications, and autonomous vehicle navigation, where real-time spatial awareness and processing are required.

Poisson Surface Reconstruction offers an approach to creating smooth, well-defined surfaces from point cloud data, which are often collected via photogrammetry or LiDAR. This algorithm excels in generating high-quality surfaces by interpolating a continuous surface across given 3D points and is particularly beneficial for creating naturalistic models from organic shapes, such as those found in marine environments or in anatomical studies in medical research (Hoppe 2008).

Despite their numerous applications and capabilities, these technologies face limitations that can impact their efficacy. Both LiDAR and SfM require substantial computational resources to process and manage the large datasets they generate, making them data-intensive and sometimes cost-prohibitive. SfM photogrammetry in particular depends heavily on the quality of the source images; factors such as poor lighting, lack of distinct textures, or highly reflective surfaces can introduce inaccuracies in the final 3D model (Shin et al. 2021). The high cost of LiDAR equipment poses a barrier to widespread adoption, with the technology's expense often limiting its use to well-funded projects. Additionally, the complexity of the subject's geometry being scanned by either technology can further complicate data collection and model accuracy. These challenges underscore the need for robust data management solutions and continued advancements in technology to enhance the accessibility and accuracy of 3D reconstruction tools and algorithms.

In its current state, 3D reconstruction technology can provide immense value towards postmortem examinations of marine mammals, primarily due to the advent of low-cost LiDAR sensors implemented on many mobile devices. These sensors can create high resolution 3D representations of stranded marine mammals to be used for diagnostic evaluations or for reliable morphometric measurements in the field. These two applications alone make this technology worth pursuing for this application, as well as the potential for educational studies of marine mammal anatomy. This technology would allow previously rarely seen animals such as large whales, dolphins and pinnipeds be available in an accessible environment to be viewed, studied, and learned from in a 3D environment web application or virtual reality (VR).

1.7 Research Objectives

This thesis explores the application and impact of 3D scanning technology in the assessment of marine mammal strandings, leveraging readily accessible tools like mobile phones to improve traditional necropsy procedures.

A key objective of my study is to explore the broader applications of 3D scanning in education and conservation. The research aims to validate and refine the data collection processes associated with 3D scanning to ensure they meet the demands of scientific research and necropsy measurement accuracy. By comparing these modern methods against traditional necropsy techniques, the study seeks to establish standardized practices that can be employed effectively in various environmental conditions and by different users. This is particularly important in resourcepoor settings, where access to sophisticated equipment and specialized personnel is limited.

The integration of 3D reconstruction technology into marine mammal research and necropsy is proposed as a transformative approach that not only enhances the quality and quantity of data collected but also facilitates wider collaboration among diverse stakeholders in marine conservation, ensuring that efforts are inclusive and comprehensive.

In summary, this thesis highlights the use of 3D reconstruction technology in marine mammal stranding research, demonstrating its potential to improve postmortem examinations, educational outreach, and conservation practices.

Chapter 2. Literature Review: 3D Reconstructions of Marine Mammals

To evaluate the current research in this field of study, a search of the literature involving 3D reconstructions of marine mammals was conducted from 2004 – 2024 using SCOPUS. The literature search included the terms "marine mammal" and "3D" and "model" or "reconstruction" or "scan" included in the title, abstract, or keywords. The search provided 56 results which were filtered to exclude reviews, conference abstracts, and non-English language results. The remaining articles were reviewed manually to check whether the titles and abstracts were consistent with the search objective. In total, 16 publications were selected, with these works described in groupings according to their application and methods. The literature broadly followed four categories explored here in order: detailed skeletal reconstructions, reconstructions using medical imaging, non-invasive estimations of body mass and volume for free-ranging animals, and analyses of stranded specimens.

2.1 Skeletal Reconstructions and 3D Printing

The application of three-dimensional (3D) geometric morphometrics in marine mammal research has provided unparalleled insights into skeletal structure variations and evolutionary adaptations. A detailed study on the Eurasian otter utilized photogrammetry to create precise 3D models of otter skulls from different genetic clusters across Great Britain (Russo et al. 2022). These models have facilitated the examination of distinct morphological traits, correlating them with genetic data, dietary habits, and environmental factors. The significant variations in skull morphology— such as wider zygomatic arches and longer snouts in otters from the Shetlands—are revealed through advanced 3D reconstructions, highlighting their adaptive traits in response to geographical and ecological pressures, as well as the imaging technology that generates these results.

Research on narwhals, belugas, and their hybrids has employed detailed 3D photogrammetric data to explore interspecies breeding impacts within the *Monodontidae* family (Vicari et al. 2022). This approach effectively delineated clear morphological distinctions, providing a visual representation of the hybrids that combines traits from both parent species. This study involved capturing high-resolution images from multiple angles, which were then processed using the software Blender and Meshroom to generate comprehensive 3D models.

Another use of 3D modeling involved investigating the cranial anatomy of baleen whales. Through close-range photogrammetry, researchers created detailed 3D models of minke whale skulls to study a unique biomechanical adaptation in the maxillomandibular cam articulation (Lambertsen and Hintz 2004). This feature illustrates a specialized evolutionary adaptation to aquatic feeding, discovered through plotting and transformation of photogrammetric data into 3D reconstructions that provide a deeper understanding of the biomechanics of feeding strategies.

These skeletal reconstruction studies underscore the critical role of 3D modeling in understanding morphological adaptations, enhancing our ability to study complex anatomical structures non-invasively and with high precision. In all these studies, it is mentioned that ensuring consistency in the scaling and alignment of 3D models is essential for accurate morphological comparisons across different studies. This is particularly important in these contexts when the findings from such detailed comparative analyses contribute to our understanding of evolutionary adaptations and ecological strategies.

2.2 Medical Imaging for the Purpose of 3D Reconstruction

Medical imaging for 3D reconstruction represents a significant technological advancement in the field of marine mammal research, offering detailed insights into internal anatomical structures that are otherwise difficult to study. The primary advantage of using medical imaging techniques, such as CT scans and MRIs, lies in their ability to provide high-resolution, three-dimensional views of complex biological systems without invasive procedures.

One key study centered on the North Atlantic right whale utilized computerized tomography (CT) to investigate auditory capabilities (Parks et al. 2007), a novel approach given the typical challenges associated with behavioral testing in large marine mammals. The precision of CT scans enabled detailed morphometric analyses of the cochleae, revealing crucial insights into the auditory range of the whales. This is particularly important as a means of understanding and mitigating risks from human activities like shipping and naval exercises. However, the requirement for larger sample sizes to enhance the reliability of these findings underscores a common limitation in marine mammal research, where specimen availability often hampers extensive studies.

The innovative use of 3D-printed models in a study on the cookiecutter shark's feeding behavior (Grace et al. 2023) exemplified how 3D reconstructions can simulate and analyze specific

biological functions which in this case is the mechanics behind the species' characteristic bite marks. Despite its successes, the study also notes the constraints of using static models to replicate dynamic biological processes, reflecting the inherent challenges of ensuring experimental fidelity in simulations.

Further, the use of 3D reconstruction to map the auditory cortex of the La Plata dolphin (Fung et al. 2005) highlighted the application's utility in neuroscientific studies, where traditional approaches may be impossible. By combining histological data with 3D imaging, researchers can achieve a comprehensive visualization of complex brain structures, essential for understanding sensory processing in aquatic environments. Similarly, a study examining the cranial endocasts in pinnipeds through CT and μ CT scans illustrated the broader evolutionary insights of brains possible with 3D reconstructions (Loza et al. 2023). This approach allows for detailed comparisons of neuroanatomy across different species, revealing how evolutionary pressures shape physiological traits in response to ecological niches.

Distinguished from other types of 3D modeling, such as photogrammetry or LiDAR virtual reconstructions used for external measurements and visualizations, medical imaging-based 3D reconstructions delve into the intricate internal details that are crucial for biomedical research. These methods face unique challenges, including the need for high-resolution data to accurately render fine anatomical details and the complexity of interpreting these detailed images in meaningful ways. Moreover, medical imaging requires access to specialized equipment and expertise, at often a high cost, which can be a significant barrier compared to more accessible methods like photogrammetry. Despite these challenges, the non-invasive nature and depth of data provided make medical imaging an invaluable tool in the ongoing efforts to conserve and study marine mammals, offering insights that are often unattainable through other methodologies.

2.3 3D Reconstruction for Estimating Form of Free-Ranging Marine Mammals

The advent of 3D reconstruction technologies has also significantly advanced the study of marine mammal physiology and morphology, offering non-invasive and highly accurate methods to estimate body mass and volume. The presence of methodological diversity within this field provides a deeper understanding of the best practices of creating reconstructions, which results in improved overall output quality.

The use of 3D imaging technology combined with artificial neural networks (ANN) to estimate the body mass of southern elephant seals marked a significant development in pinniped research (Eder et al. 2022). By scanning the seals with an infrared light sensor and processing the data through ANN, researchers achieved a remarkably low mean percentage error of 4.4% in mass estimates. This method stands out for its minimal disturbance to the animals and its avoidance of the logistical challenges usually associated with such measurements.

Similarly, 3D modeling has proven beneficial in assessing the body condition and supporting biomechanical studies of harbor porpoises (Irschick et al. 2020). Utilizing a combination of photography, drone footage, and GoPro videos, researchers created detailed digital reconstructions that were validated against traditional physical measurements. These models not only facilitate the study of locomotion and body condition but also serve as valuable educational tools, demonstrating the practical applications of 3D reconstructions in marine mammal science.

In the study of humpback whales, researchers have utilized UAVs to capture detailed morphometric data which was then used to develop scalable 3D models for estimating body volume (Hirtle et al. 2022). This approach significantly refined the precision of traditional methods, which often rely solely on visible dorsal surface measurements from aerial images. By integrating UAV-derived data into 3D models, the research highlighted the potential of these technologies in conducting real-time field assessments of marine mammals. Similarly, the application of aerial photogrammetry to estimate the body mass of free-ranging southern right whales (Christiansen et al. 2019) further illustrated the effectiveness of 3D models in marine mammal research. By creating a volumetric model that conceptualized the whale's body as a series of ellipses, this method not only accommodated detailed measurements of body width and height but also enhances the accuracy of body mass estimates. The study underscored the importance of incorporating comprehensive body dimensions to better understand the physiological conditions of marine mammals through 3D reconstruction. Focusing on pilot whales, another study demonstrated that detailed 3D models provide more accurate representations of marine mammal morphology than traditional truncated cones methods (Adamczak et al. 2019). These models, particularly effective for larger individuals, offer more reliable estimates of surface area and volume, highlighting discrepancies that arise with conventional methods as the size of the animals increases.

Lastly, the use of 3D models for finless porpoises has shown how accurately these reconstructions can mimic actual biological structures (Zhang et al. 2023). Validated against traditional modeling techniques, these 3D models closely matched direct measurements, emphasizing their reliability and the potential for broader application in non-invasive morphometric studies. The potential of single image 3D modeling was also tested for finless porpoises (Zhang et al. 2023), where despite its lesser accuracy compared to multi-image techniques, points to the need for rapid and cost-effective assessment tools in marine biology. This method could be particularly useful in scenarios requiring quick and efficient responses, such as during brief sightings or in remote locations.

While these studies collectively demonstrate the integration of 3D modeling in marine mammal research, they also highlight areas for improvement, with main themes in the standardization of methodologies and the development of more accessible tools for widespread application. Future research should thus focus on enhancing the resolution and accuracy of 3D models and exploring their use in more dynamic and challenging environments.

2.4 3D Reconstruction of Stranded Marine Mammals During Postmortem Examination

The integration of 3D reconstruction technologies in the study of stranded cetaceans offers potential for further advancements in marine mammal research, enabling more precise morphometric analyses and visualization options for necropsies. Two studies exemplify this integration, firstly the use of photogrammetry in assessing a stranded fin whale in Campania, Italy (Del Pizzo et al. 2021), and secondly, the application of a "4D virtual necropsy" on a humpback whale in Alaska (Chenoweth et al. 2022).

The Campania fin whale study highlights the potential of photogrammetry to replace traditional morphometric data collection methods, which are often hindered by logistical challenges and the physical state of decomposing carcasses. By utilizing consumer-grade cameras and photogrammetric software, researchers created detailed 3D models from images taken around the whale carcass, facilitating accurate and undisturbed measurements of morphological features. This method proved not only comparable but occasionally superior to traditional measurements, suggesting that photogrammetry could greatly enhance the accuracy and efficiency of post-mortem examinations. The study advocates for the development of standardized photogrammetry protocols

to improve data quality and accessibility, which could significantly advance the monitoring and understanding of cetacean health and conservation.

Similarly, the "4D virtual necropsy" utilized both LiDAR and photogrammetry to document the necropsy and decomposition of a humpback whale over several months. This innovative approach produced a publicly accessible digital necropsy, which has served educational and research purposes globally. The incorporation of time as a fourth dimension allows for dynamic observations of post-mortem decomposition, offering a unique educational tool that enhances the understanding of marine mammal anatomy and pathology without necessitating physical presence.

Despite these successes, the studies mention potential improvements in the research, particularly concerning the standardization of methodologies and the adaptation of these technologies to a wider range of species and environmental conditions. Future research should focus on refining these methods to ensure they are robust across different necropsy scenarios and can be seamlessly integrated into existing stranding response protocols. This would not only streamline data collection but also enhance the global capacity for marine mammal research and conservation efforts.

2.5 Current State of the Research and Gaps

One of the primary limitations evident across the studies is the inconsistency in methodological approaches. While diversity in methods can foster innovation, the lack of standardized protocols can hinder the comparability of results and scalability of technologies. For instance, the field would benefit from harmonizing techniques used in photogrammetry and CT scans to ensure that a larger breadth of data collected by different researchers or institutions can be accurately compared or integrated. This standardization is particularly critical in longitudinal studies or those spanning multiple geographic regions, where data consistency is paramount. Studies like the one on the North Atlantic right whale reconstruction and the cookiecutter shark bite provide critical insights but also highlight the need for broader sample sizes and the adaptation of experimental setups to better mimic natural conditions.

Despite the proven capabilities of 3D reconstructions in enhancing our understanding of marine mammal anatomy and behavior, their application in real-world conservation strategies remains limited. Research is needed to bridge the gap between academic findings and practical

conservation tools, such as developing streamlined processes for deploying these technologies in the field and enhancing their affordability and accessibility for conservation practitioners. For example, the research on narwhals and belugas and their hybrids using 3D morphometrics illustrates the technology's capability to detail interspecies variations yet points to the need for further studies to explore the broader ecological and evolutionary implications of these findings.

In the specific context of necropsies and postmortem examinations, 3D reconstruction technologies hold tremendous promise for advancing our understanding of marine mammal pathology and mortality causes. However, several research gaps and challenges need to be addressed to fully leverage these technologies in postmortem studies. Firstly, there is a critical need for developing standardized protocols for 3D reconstructions during necropsies. Standardizing these methods would ensure consistency and comparability of postmortem data across different cases and institutions. This is particularly important for establishing baseline data on marine mammal health and for monitoring changes over time or across populations. The use of photogrammetry in assessing the fin whale in Campania, Italy, suggests that while 3D models can replace traditional methods and offer superior accuracy, there remains a substantial need for standardized photogrammetry protocols to improve data quality and accessibility universally.

Additionally, there is an opportunity to expand the use of 3D reconstructions to include a wider range of species and sizes of marine mammals. Most existing research focuses on larger cetaceans, while smaller species and less common marine mammals are underrepresented. Expanding the application of 3D reconstructions to include these groups could provide a more comprehensive understanding of species-specific pathologies and anatomical variations, which are crucial for tailored conservation strategies.

Another gap is the integration of advanced imaging techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) with other forms of 3D reconstruction. These imaging modalities can provide detailed insights into the internal anatomy that are not possible with external scans alone. Research into hybrid techniques that combine these methods could enhance the depth and breadth of data collected during necropsies, offering more comprehensive insights into cause of death and disease processes.

Finally, enhancing the accessibility of these technologies for field-based necropsies is crucial. Many strandings and postmortem examinations occur in remote or resource-limited settings where sophisticated 3D scanning equipment is not available. Developing portable, cost-effective, and user-friendly 3D scanning solutions that can be deployed in these conditions would significantly advance the capacity for rapid and accurate postmortem examinations globally.

Chapter 3. 3D Reconstructions of Stranded Marine Mammals Using Accessible Remote Sensing Tools for Use in Morphometric Measurements and Visualizations

The literature review highlights significant advancements in the field of marine mammal research, particularly the integration of innovative technologies to enhance the accuracy and comprehensiveness of data collection. Traditional necropsy methods have been indispensable, yet they face inherent limitations due to logistical challenges, resource constraints, and the deteriorating condition of specimens. The emergence of 3D reconstruction technology, specifically through accessible tools like mobile phones equipped with LiDAR, represents a promising solution to these challenges.

Considering these advancements, my study explores the application of 3D scanning technology in marine mammal strandings. By leveraging readily available technology, I aim to improve the precision of morphometric measurements and enhance the documentation process during necropsies. This approach not only addresses the practical constraints encountered in the field but also opens new avenues for research, education, and conservation.

The following manuscript delves into the operational aspects and potential impact of utilizing 3D scanning tools in the assessment of marine mammal strandings. By focusing on the practicality and accuracy of these technologies, I aim to demonstrate their transformative potential in marine mammal conservation efforts.

Reference:

Cottrell B., Kalacska M., Raverty S., Arroyo-Mora J.P., Lucanus O., Cottrell P., Lehnhart T. 3D Reconstructions of Stranded Marine Mammals Using Accessible Remote Sensing Tools for Use in Morphometric Measurements and Visualizations. *Frontiers in Marine Science*.

Note: The heading, figure and table numbers for chapter 3 are adjusted to follow the table of contents for the thesis.
3.1 Abstract

This study investigates the practicality and potential impact of 3D scanning technology in assessing marine mammal strandings. Utilizing accessible tools like mobile phones, we evaluate the technology and its capability to accurately reconstruct strandings across diverse conditions and 10 marine mammal species. This process is validated by measuring an inflatable whale to an accuracy of less than 1%, with most marine mammals studied being measured to within 2% of manual morphometric measurements. Our findings demonstrate the adaptability of the technology in remote environments, particularly for large whale strandings, while showcasing its utility in measuring morphometrics and enhancing necropsy documentation. The study underscores the transformative role of 3D scanning in marine mammal conservation, offering avenues for improved research, education, and conservation practices. It emphasizes the importance of accessible technology in engaging communities and advancing wildlife conservation efforts globally.

3.2 Introduction

As sentinels of broader ocean health (Bossart 2011), marine mammals reflect the intricate balance of marine ecosystems and play a crucial role in providing insights into environmental changes (Simmonds and Isaac 2007; MacLeod 2009; Derville et al. 2019; Burek et al. 2008), pollution levels (Williams et al. 2023), and ecosystem dynamics (Bowen 1997; Rhodes-Reese et al. 2021). Studying marine mammals such as large whales, dolphins, and other pelagic creatures often poses significant challenges due to spending their lives underwater and their vast and remote oceanic habitats (Nowacek et al. 2016). Necropsies, the post-mortem examination of deceased animals, offer invaluable opportunities to assess marine mammal health, shedding light on both individual and population-level factors influencing their well-being (Küker et al. 2018). Necropsies not only provide insights into the cause of death but also offer unique glimpses into various other aspects of marine mammal health. Tracking emerging diseases (Waltzek et al. 2012; Leguia et al. 2023; VanWormer et al. 2019), assessing variations in body condition (Castrillon and Bengtson Nash 2020), and identifying trauma (Schoeman et al. 2020; Cassoff et al. 2011) are just some of the critical observations that can be made during necropsies. These examinations allow researchers to monitor seasonal changes (Wund et al. 2023), identify trends in mortality rates (Bogomolni et al. 2010), and assess the impacts of environmental stressors on marine mammal populations (Carrier-Belleau et al. 2021).

The progression of best practices in conducting necropsies worldwide continues to improve the information collected about marine mammal strandings and overall health. In remote areas where access to specialized equipment, personnel, and expertise is limited, it is difficult to extract a consistent level of detail from these examinations in comparison to resourced areas (Fitton et al. 2021). In regions like British Columbia, Canada, where expansive marine mammal populations thrive amidst hundreds of kilometers of remote coastline, the need for innovative approaches to necropsy procedures becomes increasingly relevant. Despite these challenges, extensive data has been compiled on stranding trends (Raverty et al. 2024; Barbieri et al. 2013), anthropogenic threats (Storlund et al. 2024), emerging diseases (Berhane et al. 2022; Teman et al. 2021; Rosenberg et al. 2016), and contaminant levels (Lee et al. 2023; Lee et al. 2023) of marine mammals in this region. Opportunity to improve the quantity and quality of data from postmortem examinations is of critical interest and can be developed in part by way of newly available imaging instruments and procedures (Tsui et al. 2020). Improved documentation and sample management has been an another identified need in improving necropsy procedure (Brownlie and Munro 2016).

The need for complementary methods to enhance necropsy data collection and analysis can be realized in part using rapidly developing 3D reconstruction sensors and technology (Bois et al. 2021; Farahani et al. 2017). Continued advancements in this technology will further improve the accessibility and user-friendliness of 3D reconstruction tools. By providing detailed visualizations of marine mammal anatomy and pathology, these virtual reconstructions have the potential to enhance public engagement, interest, and education (Au et al. 2017). Virtual reality (VR) environments in particular offer immersive experiences (Cipresso et al. 2018) that will potentially allow users to explore reconstructed marine mammal specimens in unprecedented detail, fostering greater awareness and appreciation for these creatures and the challenges they face.

Models of marine mammals have been used successfully to estimate body size and morphology, often in the pursuit of understanding health and bioenergetics. Digital modelling combining photographs and select morphometric measurements have been successfully applied to create 3D models of pilot whales (Adamczak et al. 2019), finless porpoises (Zhang et al. 2023), and

humpback whales (Hirtle et al. 2022), as well as many other animals (Irschick et al. 2022). These models are typically used as a proxy for live animals and animated for biomechanical analysis or to analyze body condition. Often these models are dependent on validation from stranded animals, which further justifies the need for continued and improved collection of morphometric data during necropsy of all marine mammal species. Digital imaging has also been combined with 3D printing to create high definition 3D printed specimen replicas of a killer and blue whale for use in a marine science center (Mills et al. 2022). In Alaska, a humpback whale was 3D scanned using an iPad in addition to Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) photogrammetry to create a "Virtual Necropsy" educational tool (Chenoweth et al. 2022). The use of accessible remote sensing tools has been shown to provide value for both education and in documentation of stranded animals in numerous occasions, although the technology must continue to be tested, improved, and implemented to provide long term value for marine mammal conservation. This includes being tested in time-constrained situations, non-ideal environmental conditions, by unfamiliar users and among varied specimens and species.

In this paper, we present a novel rapid approach for 3D reconstruction to complement traditional necropsy methods in marine mammal research in cases of various necropsy conditions and species. The primary purpose of our work is to showcase the current state of the technology in the context of marine mammal strandings and that it can be utilized by community partners to improve marine mammal stranding information collection in particularly challenging and resource-poor environments. This includes testing the feasibility of collecting 3D data in the typical (often poor) environmental conditions where marine mammals strand in British Columbia. This is particularly important for large whale strandings, or in cases where carcass transport from remote areas is not feasible and thus limited external examinations and sample collection must be done in place. We tested our methodology by collecting data from a diverse range of marine mammal specimens, including large whales, dolphins, pinnipeds, and sea otters, with a focus on accessible and userfriendly handheld devices equipped with LiDAR sensors. This was done in conjunction with the validation of the data collection process against an inflatable pilot whale used for live-stranding training. Additional auxiliary data including UAV photogrammetry was also collected, in the case of large whales to provide a comparison to LiDAR. In the cases where a full necropsy was completed, individual datasets of organ systems were collected when possible. These scans were

processed and created into detailed virtual models for morphometric assessments, and/or as an education tool. These scans were also implemented in a web application and VR environment as an example of marine mammal stranding data visualization for multiple species. Through our study, we demonstrate the significant potential of 3D reconstruction technology with easily available sensors to enhance the study of marine mammal health and pathology. By providing detailed visualizations of marine mammal specimens and exploring the adoption of continued collection of this data, we offer researchers, community members, and educators valuable tools for documenting and understanding marine mammal strandings. We highlight the importance of innovation in necropsy procedures for advancing our understanding of marine mammal health and informing conservation efforts particularly in remote and challenging environments.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Study Area

The province of British Columbia, located on the westernmost edge of Canada, is renowned for its diverse and dramatic physical geography, particularly along its extensive coastline. Stretching over 27,000 kilometers, the coastline features a complex network of fjords, inlets, and islands, including the prominent Vancouver Island and the Queen Charlotte Islands (Haida Gwaii). The coastal waters are characterized by a mixture of cold, nutrient-rich currents that support a vibrant marine ecosystem including many marine mammals. There are 31 species of marine mammals that can be found in British Columbian waters, 25 cetaceans (whales, dolphins, and porpoises) and 6 species of carnivores (seals, sea lions and the sea otter) (Ford 2014).

Marine mammal strandings in British Columbia, are monitored province-wide by the British Columbia Marine Mammal Response Network (BCMMRN) coordinated by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO). Necropsies for this study were conducted in cooperation with the provincial Animal Health Centre in Abbotsford, British Columbia.

Starting in May 2022, data were collected for strandings that were conducive to a postmortem examination and 3D reconstruction within the territorial waters of British Columbia. In this study, 10 species and 12 specimens were examined: 7 cetacean and 3 carnivore species (Table 1). The

strandings where data collection occurred are labelled by species with locations displayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Map of study area on the west coast of Canada illustrating marine mammal strandings where 3D reconstruction data collection was performed.

3.3.2 3D Model Reconstruction Background

While in-depth descriptions of the background theory for the methods used can be found elsewhere (see Gomes et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2024 among others), given the novelty of the application, a short overview is presented here.

Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) is a remote sensing technology that uses laser pulses to determine distance between the instrument and the object/surface of the Earth. The resulting point clouds are detailed three-dimensional representations of surfaces and objects (Wandinger 2005). By emitting laser pulses and measuring the time it takes for them to return after hitting an object, LiDAR generates precise distance data. Handheld LiDAR devices utilize this technology in a portable format, allowing for efficient 3D data collection in various environments (Bauwens et al. 2016; Chio and Hou 2021; Desai et al. 2021). The most common output from LiDAR is a 3D point cloud.

Structure-from-Motion Multi-View Stereo (SfM-MVS) photogrammetry is a technique used to create 3D models from 2D photographs (Eltner et al. 2020). By capturing a series of overlapping photographs from different angles, SfM software can identify common points within the images and reconstruct their three-dimensional positions. This process involves camera calibration, feature detection, and matching, followed by the generation of a sparse point cloud that represents the object's or scene's geometry (Fathi and Brilakis 2011). Further refinement through dense point cloud reconstruction is achieved through algorithms such as MVS (Strecha et al. 2012).

A 3D point cloud is a collection of discrete points in three-dimensional space, each representing a specific location on the surface of an object or scene. These points collectively describe the object's geometry but lack information about the surface's continuity (Liu et al. 2019). In contrast, a 3D mesh provides a more structured representation, consisting of vertices, edges, and faces that form a continuous surface (Rassineux 1997). Figure 2 shows what the two different formats of point cloud (a) and 3D mesh model (b) represent visually for reference on an inflatable test whale.



Figure 2: Point cloud representation of inflatable test whale collected from LiDAR (a), and the resultant 3D mesh model (b).

3.3.3 Marine Mammal Specimens Examined

Over the period of two years, twelve marine mammal specimens (ten species) were collected or examined for study, with a summarization of the stranding information and 3D data collection for each case in Table 1. The location of each specimen is shown in Figure 1. In addition to the specimens listed in Table 1, LiDAR and SfM data were also collected of an inflatable test whale (see section 3.3.3.1) in order to validate the process of data collection for real animals.

Species	Date Collected/Observed	Date Examined	Location	Age and Sex	Length (m)	Data Collected
Grey Whale	August 2023	August 2023	Jarvis Inlet	Adult Female	12.30	Pre and post necropsy LiDAR
Grey Whale	June 2022	June 2022	Nootka Island	Adult Male	9.9	Pre and post necropsy LiDAR, UAV photogrammetry
Humpback Whale	May 2022	May 2022	Langara Island	Adult Female	12.2	Pre-necropsy LiDAR, UAV photogrammetry
Killer Whale	March 2024	March 2024	Zeballos	Adult Female	6.00	Pre-necropsy LiDAR
Risso's Dolphin	July 2023	August 2023	Daajing Giids	Juvenile Female	2.23	Pre-necropsy LiDAR
Striped Dolphin	August 2023	October 2023	Ucluelet	Adult Female	1.95	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems
Dall's Porpoise	May 2022	July 2023	Victoria	Adult Male	2.04	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems
Harbour Porpoise	May 2023	August 2023	Salt Spring Island	Adult Male	1.50	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems
Harbour Porpoise	July 2023	August 2023	Tsawwassen	Calf	0.83	Comprehensive LiDAR

Table 1: Marine mammal specimens used to demonstrate 3D reconstruction capability.

						including organ systems
Sea Otter	March 2022	July 2023	Tofino	Subadult Male	1.14	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems
Northern Fur Seal	January 2021	July 2023	Port Hardy	Juvenile	0.80	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems
Harbour Seal	December 2023	January 2024	Vancouver	Calf	0.79	Comprehensive LiDAR including organ systems

3.3.3.1 Validation of Reference Measurements

In July 2022, 15 LiDAR datasets were collected of an inflatable pilot whale typically used for live stranding training (British Divers Marine Life Rescue, East Sussex, UK). These data were collected with ideal clear sky conditions at the DFO warehouse on Annacis Island, British Columbia. Multiple software settings were tested and scanning sequences were completed to determine what may work ideally in the field (see section 3.3.4). A 5.00-meter tape measure was set up as a ground reference to assess the accuracy of the reconstructed model. Three UAV flights to collect photogrammetry data were also performed (see section 3.3.5).

Standard photographs and morphometric measurements were collected for each stranding in accordance to normal marine mammal necropsy procedure which generally follows that of similar institutions such as that of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) in the United States, and other stranding response protocols that are well established (Pugliares et al. 2007). This is done opportunistically with the maximum possible number of samples and measurements taken given the surrounding conditions and time limitations, resources, and personnel available for the postmortem exam.

3.3.3.2 Large Whale Specimens Collected

In May 2023, a 12.30-meter female grey whale (*Eschrichtius robustus*) and calf became trapped in a tidal lagoon at the end of Jarvis Inlet, an approximately two-hour boat ride from Port Hardy, B.C. Despite rescue efforts, only the calf was able to escape from the lagoon. The mother was found floating dead outside of the lagoon a few days after the final rescue efforts to free her in late August. The animal was presented in poor body and post-mortem condition due to emaciation from being trapped in the lagoon for four months. Four personnel were available to attend the necropsy where the animal was towed to a nearby inlet where a come along winch was used to move the animal as close as possible to shore at high tide. As the tide receded the animal became accessible to examiners where two 3D datasets of the animal were completed: one pre-necropsy, and one post-necropsy after the animal was sampled. Heavy rain during the postmortem examination precluded any UAV flights to collect photogrammetry data, however video was collected of the process of moving the whale to a location where a necropsy was feasible.

In June 2022, a 9.9-meter male grey whale (*Eschrichtius robustus*) presented stranded on the west side of Nootka Island. The animal was in fair to poor post-mortem condition (decomposition code 3.5 (Bogomolni et al. 2010)) and moderate body condition. The abdomen was moderately distended and firm. The Canadian Coast Guard (CCG) was able to bring three personnel to attend this necropsy via CCG helicopter. The animal was on shore at low tide allowing for examination during the half tidal cycle, which precluded any extended examination but allowed for a limited "windowed" approach, where a rectangular section of the abdomen is opened to allow access to some critical organs for examination. Two UAV flights (Supplementary Table 1) were completed to collect photogrammetry data and to take video of the pathologists sampling the animal. Two 3D datasets of the animal were completed: one pre-necropsy with the animal as it was stranded, and one post-necropsy after the animal was sampled.

In May 2022, a 12.2-meter female humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) stranded on Langara Island, Haida Gwaii. The animal was in moderate body and fair post-mortem condition (decomposition code 3.5). The opportunity was available for three personnel to attend this remote necropsy, which consisted of a two-hour boat ride from the nearest settlement in Masset. The whale was floating in a narrow tidal gorge, precluding any meaningful necropsy but the decision was

made to anchor the animal to shore as far up the inlet as possible at high tide. The following day at low tide the animal was on shore and the necropsy was completed during the half tidal cycle before the animal began to float again. Two UAV flights were completed with one to collect photogrammetry data and the other to take video of the pathologist sampling the animal. One 3D dataset of the animal post-necropsy was collected, which included stepping on the animal itself as the surrounding terrain was inaccessible. The animal's fluke and a portion of the tail was submerged during the examination, precluding that portion of the animal from being included in the 3D dataset.

3.3.3 Dolphin Specimens Collected

In March 2024, a 6.00-meter pregnant adult female and calf killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) became trapped in a lagoon, resulting in a live stranding event near Zeballos, B.C. Despite efforts to return the animal to the water, the adult female died later in the day. Multiple personnel were available to assist with this necropsy, with pre-necropsy 3D datasets being collected on both the adult and unborn fetus. Logistic and personnel challenges unfortunately precluded additional scans from being conducted.

In July 2023, a 2.23-meter juvenile Risso's dolphin (*Grampus griseus*) stranded on East Beach, Haida Gwaii. The animal was in poor body condition and very poor postmortem condition (decomposition code 4). The animal was subsequently frozen, and a necropsy was later conducted in August 2023 in Daajing Giids as part of a training course for community partners in marine mammal conservation. 3D datasets were collected of the animal pre-necropsy.

In August 2023, a 1.95-meter adult female striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) live stranded near Ucluelet, B.C. The animal was close to death when rescuers arrived and attempts to refloat the animal were unsuccessful. In October 2023, the animal had a full post-mortem exam at Annacis Island. This included collecting 3D datasets of the body pre and post necropsy, as well as organs and organ systems that were suitable for scanning.

3.3.3.4 Porpoise Specimens Collected

In May 2022 a 2.04-meter adult male Dall's porpoise (*Phocoenoides dalli*) was found floating dead near Victoria, B.C. The animal was found in moderate to poor body condition with larvae

around the mouth and abdominal distention. The animal was frozen in Victoria and transported to Annacis Island for a full necropsy in July 2023. This included collecting 3D datasets of the body pre and post necropsy as well as suitable organs.

In May 2023 a 1.50-meter adult male harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) was found stranded on Salt Spring Island, B.C in moderate body condition. The animal was frozen and stored at Annacis Island until it was possible to perform a full necropsy of the animal in August 2023. 3D datasets of the animal pre and post necropsy in addition to organ systems were collected.

In July 2023 a 0.83-metre harbour porpoise calf live stranded in Tsawwassen, B.C. Efforts were made to bring the animal to the Vancouver Aquarium's marine mammal rescue facility, but the animal died in transit. The animal was frozen at Annacis Island and a full necropsy was performed in August 2023. 3D datasets of the animal pre and post necropsy in addition to organ systems were collected.

3.3.3.5 Carnivore Specimens Collected

In January 2021 an 0.80-meter juvenile female northern fur seal (*Callorhinus ursinus*) was found stranded near Port Hardy, B.C. in poor post-mortem and fair body condition. The animal was frozen and transported to Annacis Island, where a full necropsy was performed in July 2023. 3D datasets of the animal pre and post necropsy in addition to organ systems were collected. In December 2023 a 0.79-meter harbour seal (*Phoca vitulina*) calf was abandoned in Vancouver. The animal was taken in by the Vancouver Aquarium's marine mammal rescue team but died in transit to the facility. The animal was frozen, and a full necropsy was conducted in January 2024 at Annacis Island. 3D datasets of the animal pre and post necropsy in addition to organ systems were collected. Lastly in March 2022 a 1.14-meter subadult male sea otter (*Enhydra lutris*) stranded near Tofino, B.C. in fair body and moderate postmortem condition. The animal was frozen and taken to Annacis Island for necropsy in July 2023. 3D datasets of the animal pre and post necropsy in addition to organ systems were collected.

3.3.4 LiDAR Data Acquisition and Processing

LiDAR data were collected using an iPhone 12 Pro (Apple, Cupertino, CA) using the free Scaniverse application (Niantic, San Francisco, CA). The LiDAR sensor is available on the Pro and Pro Max models of the iPhone 12 and later, in addition to iPad Pro models starting from 2020.

This was achieved by walking around the animal with the iPhone in hand, carefully covering the entire extent of the animal and ensuring to not exceed the adjustable LiDAR range (i.e., 0.3 meters -5 meters) in distance from the animal while scanning. For large whales this took up to 10 minutes, where with the smaller marine mammals this process was completed in a maximum of 2-3 minutes.

The Scaniverse app collects both LiDAR and photographs from the phone's main camera. Processing through the application generates a realistic triangular 3D mesh as the primary output. The scanning systems on iOS device applications use a form of simultaneous localization and mapping (SLAM) which continuously tracks the sensor's position and orientation in three dimensions over time. SLAM relies on optical data overlaps, utilizing previously observed features to establish relative coordinates and maintain accurate image registration (Lehtola et al. 2021). Figure 3 displays the Scaniverse interface and an example workflow for marine mammal data collection and subsequent export capabilities using the Scaniverse application. Details on the processing within the application are provided in section 3.3.6.

3.3.5 Structure-from-Motion Photogrammetry Acquisition and Processing

For large whale necropsy conditions that allowed for collection of UAV photogrammetry, a Mavic Professional (Da-Jiang Innovations (DJI), Shenzhen, China) UAV was used. Data collection consisted of capturing photographs of the stranded whale and surrounding area. The UAV was flown manually as opposed to the widely used preprogrammed orthogonal flight path transects as no previous understanding of the stranding sites were available to create a detailed flight plan. During the manual flights the best effort was made to create orthogonal flight lines with high overlap (~ 80%). See Supplementary Table 1 for flight details. Pix4DMapper (Pix4D, Prilly, Switzerland) was used to implement the SfM-MVS workflow. The resultant 3D mesh output for these large whale cases were used primarily to provide additional context for the large whale strandings.

One important consideration in the creation of realistic models is the determination of scale. The LiDAR system measures distances accurately and therefore evaluates the appropriate scale of the models within Scaniverse without the need for input of a known reference measurement in the scene. In the case of UAV photogrammetry here, the geotagging of each image used to create the model provides this distance measurement within a scene that is required to produce accurate scale. For non-georeferenced images, a known reference measurement is required to add these scale constraints to the model.

3.3.6 Data Processing Workflow and Visualization

The marine mammal datasets acquired broadly follow two overall groups and use cases. The first is the application of 3D data collection in the instance of remote or inaccessible necropsies that benefit from the ease of use of these sensors and software. This is the case where regional partners are most likely to use this technology, to collect 3D reconstruction information in the field where the animal is too large (for large whales) or too remote to be transported for a full postmortem examination or for pathologists to be transported to the area. Here the ideal case is for the mesh output of the Scaniverse workflow from a handheld device (Figure 3) being an acceptable reconstruction without postprocessing. For large whales the use of UAV photogrammetry was implemented, when possible, to provide more environmental context and auxiliary data to the handheld LiDAR collection alone although this would only be done if appropriate personnel and equipment was available. The second case is more exploratory in using this technology in the context of animals that stranded or were transported to resourced areas where a full necropsy can be conducted, with all organ systems sampled and a 3D dataset collected. Both kinds of data collection followed a similar workflow, which is detailed in Figure 4.



Figure 3: Workflow using the Scaniverse application for the purpose of collecting marine mammal scans. On the left is a written explanation of the processing steps. On the right is the same steps in pictorial form as would be viewed in the Scaniverse application.



Figure 4: General workflow for all marine mammal scans collected.

Following processing and inspection of the resulting model, the meshes were exported to both .obj (geometry definition file format) and .las (RGB 3-dimensional point cloud data) files from the Scaniverse application to further refine in post-processing.

Post-processing the Scaniverse output was done using the free open-source 3D point cloud and mesh processing software CloudCompare Version 2.13. The two main tools used were to crop and segment data as well as merge multiple scans of the same specimen. For the cases where UAV photogrammetry data was taken, Pix4DMapper Version 4.8 was used to process the UAV data into meshes that could then be combined with the Scaniverse mesh outputs in CloudCompare.

3.3.7 Morphometric Measurements

For cetaceans, the key morphometric quantities of interest during postmortem exams (and in general) are straight-line length (from tip of upper jaw), appendage lengths, girth, and blubber thickness. There are 12 straight-line length measurements, 4 appendage measurements, 4 girth measurements, 2 throat pleat measurements (if applicable) and 9 blubber measurements typically taken for complete morphometric characterization during postmortem exams (Supplementary Figure 1). For carnivores, morphometric assessments typically include straight-line and curvilinear length (tip of snout to tip of tail), 2 appendage measurements, 3 girth measurements and 3 blubber measurements (if applicable).

For each stranding, digital morphometric measurements (Euclidean distance) were made in Scaniverse using a straight-line length or using a polyline measurement for curvilinear measurements of length or girth. For all specimens the multiple digital measurements are compared against the manually collected morphometric sheet as a proof of concept that these scans can be used to adequately describe the morphometry of the animal in various necropsy conditions, over species of varied size and form. One important consideration in this work is there is no way to verify the accuracy of the manual measurements, experienced personnel were primarily tasked with these measurements but there is an unquantifiable source of error intrinsic to manual measurements that must be mentioned, especially if these measurements are done in time constrained situations and difficult environments.

3.3.8 Web Visualization and Virtual Reality

The generated 3D reconstructions of the specimens collected, and auxiliary information was stored in an accessible web platform for visualization and further investigation. The exported .obj meshes were uploaded to a server using the open-source 3D Heritage Online Presenter (3DHOP) framework (Visual Computing Laboratory - ISTI-CNR, Pisa, Italy) for interactive web presentations of high-resolution 3D models.

Uploading and incorporating the models into virtual reality was implemented using the ENGAGE VR (Immersive VR Education, Ireland) platform. This platform allows for uploading of .glb files, which unlike .obj provides a packaged single file containing all textures and shaders of a model. Within the platform, a presentation was created to view the output of these scans in lifelike sizes, providing an opportunity to view what happens during a necropsy through virtual reality for multiple species types.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Validation of Model Geometry with Inflatable Whale

The 5.00-meter measuring tape next to the inflatable whale was used as a reference and measured over 15 scan iterations within the Scaniverse app to be 4.99 ± 0.03 meters. This demonstrates that measurements achieved through reconstructions have approximately a 1% uncertainty, barring any obvious distortions, errors in scanning, or errors in using the measurement tool within Scaniverse. These three error sources must be closely monitored to obtain accurate measurements from a 3D reconstruction. An example of the reference measurement as well as three example morphometric measurements of the inflatable whale including dorsal fin height, flipper anterior length and half tail fluke width are shown in Figure 5. The proportions and overall shape of the inflatable whale are not entirely comparable to a real animal, however the reconstruction can clearly distinguish the structure of the fins, as well as the body shape.

During testing it was found that for most cases, using 'detail mode' (photogrammetry) for processing within Scaniverse can result in large artifacts (e.g., two tails) especially for the large whales while in 'area mode' the structural data provided from LiDAR allows for the best representation of true form in all cases. For smaller animals and organ systems, detail mode was able to provide better representations of texture, which is important for diagnostics.



Figure 5: 3D model (generated from Scaniverse) of the inflatable pilot whale used for live stranding training. (a) Reference assessment against known length (5.00-meters), and straight-line measurement of the whale at 4.40-meters. (b) Side profile of whale for reference and display shape of inflatable. (c) Simulated measurement of anterior flipper length. (d) Simulated measurement of dorsal fin height. (e) Simulated measurement of (half) tail fluke width.

3.4.2 Large Whales

The grey whale that was stranded after being trapped in a lagoon for four months was severely emaciated. Pre-necropsy morphometrics via 3D data in addition to a post-necropsy representation of the animal that displays several internal organs are shown in Figure 6. With the entirety of the animal out of the water at the time of examination, an accurate straightline length can be determined directly from Scaniverse. The measured straightline length (12.35-meters) was < 1% different from the value measured manually in the field (12.30-meters). The axillary girth, doubled at half was different by a factor of 1.4%. This can partially be explained by the discrepancy when using a polyline measurement in Scaniverse as opposed to a tape measure that can adequately lie flush to the animal. Here polyline measurements at less than 10-centimeters between vertices were used. The tail fluke measurement had a discrepancy of 0.4-metres or approximately 10% if using

a straightline fluke length, reduced to 2% using a 6-part polyline measurement. This is an important consideration in this case and other strandings where the animal's fluke rests in a curved shape, meaning a straightline length as shown in Figure 6 (b) will underestimate this value if the morphometric measurement was done with a tape measurer flush to the fluke length as was done here. A 13% discrepancy can be seen with the anterior flipper measurement as a small portion of the pectoral was still underwater, another consideration if taking morphometrics from 3D data. The animal was found to have marked reductions in subcutaneous and visceral adipose stores and the animal was poorly muscled, in addition to a salmon discolouration of the blubber. This emaciation manifests in a "peanut head" appearance which is readily apparent in the 3D representation of the animal Figure 6 (d) and (e). The salmon discoloration of the blubber has been observed in other grey whales and it is difficult to infer whether this may be related to dietary changes (abundant carotenoids), endogenous pigment production or some other process. The animal also had generalized sloughing of the skin.



Figure 6: 3D reconstruction of grey whale stranded near Jarvis Inlet after being trapped in a tidal lagoon for 4 months. (a) Straightline length calculated in Scaniverse. (b) Tail fluke measurement (underestimated if straightline length used). (c) Anterior flipper measurement, underestimating by 10% due to water cutoff. (d) From mid dorsal looking towards head and (e) front dorsal towards tail obvious "peanut head" as a result of extreme emaciation before death captured in the 3D reconstruction.

The grey whale stranded on Nootka island was considerably bloated and upon incision of the abdominal musculature there was marked deflation of the abdominal cavity. Figure 7 displays the

UAV 3D model output collected during this necropsy and 3D dataset collection conducted pre and post necropsy. The animal's total length was estimated at 9.9-meters from nadir UAV photographs, as the fluke of the animal was still submerged at low tide. This includes a correcting factor given the estimated 20° decline of the tail in the water. An anterior flipper measurement from the prenecropsy LiDAR in Scaniverse was collected to be 1.44-meters, a difference of 2% from the manual measurement of 1.47-meters. In the post necropsy scan it is apparent that upon incision a moderate amount of brown-red fluid drained from the animal as a result of the poor postmortem condition. The small intestines and colon were taut, and gas inflated, well characterized by the 3D reconstruction. Of note, the post-necropsy dataset does not characterize the head well. This is due to the LiDAR collection losing contact (out of range) halfway through the scan. The processing software cannot register where the data is collected from and must re-register from a new reference point. This resulted in this scan essentially having two lower halves of the animal separated by approximately 15°, which was rectified in postprocessing via segmentation of the scan at the point of deviation and subsequent re-registration through the use of equivalent reference points that are present in both segments. Despite the visual success shown in Figure 7 (d), this scan would not be suitable for use in morphometric analysis, only a visual assessment.



Figure 7: 3D reconstruction of grey whale stranded on Nootka Island. (a) UAV photogrammetry output pre necropsy. (b) LiDAR output pre necropsy. (c) UAV photogrammetry output post necropsy. (d) LiDAR output post necropsy.

The stranded humpback whale in Haida Gwaii is shown with the UAV photogrammetry and 3D dataset results in Figure 8. The UAV photogrammetry shown pre and post necropsy especially outlines the steep tidal gorge the animal was in that precluded much of normal necropsy procedure. LiDAR data only being collected post-necropsy shows that on incision of the musculature, multiple tense loops of gas inflated small intestine were extruded. The flukes and distal third of the peduncle were submerged, precluding safe access. The oral cavity as well was only partially exposed from the water. Morphometric measurements were collected solely through assessing the 3D reconstruction and UAV images due to the difficult environment, although some measurements such as that of the anterior flippers could be verified via manual measurements. With some areas of the animal inaccessible to the scanner being underwater, the straight-line length could not be calculated directly in Scaniverse. The animal's length was estimated at 12.2-meters from these scans and associated photographs in postprocessing. Other morphometrics were collected from Scaniverse including an example anterior flipper measurement at 2.47-meters, consistent with the manual measurement (2.50-meters) to within 2%. The 3D reconstruction adequately displays the animal's moderate body condition, prominent mammae and open abdominal cavity, including a moderate amount of ingesta primarily consisting of herring bones.



Figure 8: 3D reconstruction of humpback whale in Haida Gwaii. (a) UAV photogrammetry output pre necropsy. (b) UAV photogrammetry output post necropsy. (c) LiDAR output post necropsy.

3.4.3 Dolphins and Porpoises

Stranded killer whales are rare in B.C. relative to the large whales, providing a unique opportunity to showcase 3D reconstructions of this species. This is especially true for this specimen being in this good of condition due to being live stranded. Figure 9 displays the pre-necropsy scan of the killer whale as well as the unborn fetus that was present. Extremely wet conditions caused specular anomalies of the scanner operator and other surrounding areas being present on the surface of the whale in the 3D reconstruction. This did not impact the LiDAR information obtained from the scan (and thus ability to collect morphometrics). The straightline length is measured at 6.02-meters with 6.00-meters in the field. The straightline length of the fetus was measured to within 1% of the field morphometric measurement, with the 1.50-meter measurement in Figure 9 (e) comparable to the 1.53-meters measured in the field.



Figure 9: 3D reconstruction of killer whale stranded near Zeballos. (a) Straightline length calculated in Scaniverse. (b) Tail fluke measurement (underestimated if straightline length used). (c) Dorsal fin measurement (d) Anterior flipper measurement (e) Unborn fetus removed from the whale.

The Risso's dolphin specimen was found with extensive scavenging and poor postmortem condition, with extensive sloughing of the skin. The animal was measured at 2.21-meters in Scaniverse compared to 2.23-meters during the necropsy with a difference less than 1%. The prenecropsy scan of the animal is shown in Figure 10. The suboptimal nutrition of this animal coupled with the lack of ingesta and blubber atrophy found during the necropsy are consistent with a negative energy balance would have been severe enough to cause the loss of this animal. There were no other apparent internal or external lesions.



Figure 10: 3D reconstruction of a Risso's dolphin with necropsy conducted as part of a training exercise with community partners. (a) Measurement of straightline length of the animal. (b) Animal laying on left side. (c) Animal laying on right side.

The live stranded striped dolphin that was euthanized is shown through its 3D reconstruction in Figure 11. The animal had superficial abrasions on the leading edge of the dorsal fin and edges of

the tail flukes, possibly as a result of the live stranding event. The straight-line length of the animal was measured by Scaniverse at 1.91-meters, with the field measurement of 1.95-meters which is approximately a 2% discrepancy. This animal and the rest shown in this work were candidates for a full necropsy and thus all applicable tissues were scanned as was logistically feasible. The following strandings with full necropsies were less time and resource constrained and allowed for more focus towards a complete visualization of the stranded animal and associated internal anatomy. This allows for revisiting to the stranded animal as a 3D dataset to compare against different specimens or measure/visually assess areas again, including that of organ systems. The sequential removal of all tissues and organs during the full necropsy is displayed for a select few organs. The condition and structure of the organs and stomach, pluck including goosebeak and kidney captured well by the scan and are displayed for example. There were no significant lesions in the adipose tissue, peripheral vasculature, penis, urinary bladder, trachea, kidney, thyroid gland, adrenal gland, diaphragm, or liver.



Figure 11: 3D reconstruction of a striped dolphin that live stranded in Ucluelet and was euthanized.(a) Measurement of straightline length of the animal. (b) Removal of external blubber layer. (c)Carcass with organ systems removed. (d) Digestive system. (e) Pluck including goosebeak. (f)Reniculate (lobed) kidney seen in marine mammals.

The stranded Dall's porpoise is shown via its reconstruction in Figure 12. The animal was measured to be 1.97-meters straightline length by Scaniverse, a difference of 3.5% from the manual measurement of 2.04-meters. The animal had reduced subcutaneous and visceral adipose stores, and the animal was fairly muscled. There were no apparent internal or external lesions that would have contributed to the loss of this animal. All organs were sampled with select scans of organ systems shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12: 3D reconstruction of a Dall's porpoise. (a) Measurement of straightline length of the animal. (b) Removal of external blubber layer. (c) Carcass with organ systems visible. (d) Digestive system. (e) Pluck including goosebeak. (f) Testes. (g) Reniculate (lobed) kidney seen in marine mammals.

Two harbour porpoise reconstructions are displayed in Figure 13. The adult was moderately fleshed with possible otisis interna. Incised cutaneous wounds are visible on this animal and suggestive of a possible vessel strike interaction. These wounds are visible on the scan and can be analyzed later using various characteristics of the injury (Byard et al. 2012). The animal was measured to have a straight-line length of 1.46-meters, within 3% of the manual measurement of

1.50-meters. All organs were sampled with select organ systems shown in Figure 12 (a-g). The harbour porpoise calf was in good condition with no apparent internal or external measurements. The animal was measured at a straightline length of 0.81-meters, within 2.5% of the manual measurement of 0.83-meters. Selected scans of the calf's overall body condition and organ systems are shown in Figure 13 (A-E).



Figure 13: 3D reconstruction of an adult and calf harbour porpoise. (a) Measurement of straightline length of the adult harbour porpoise. (b) Carcass with organ systems visible. (c) Carcass with organ systems removed. (d) Digestive system. (e) Testes. (f) Heart. (g) Pluck including gooseback. (A)

Measurement of straightline length of harbour porpoise calf. (B) Carcass with blubber flensed. (C) Carcass with organ systems removed. (D) Pluck. (E) Digestive system.

3.4.4 Sea Otter, Northern Fur Seal, and Harbour Seal

All carnivore full-body reconstructions are displayed in Figure 14. The use of "detail" mode in Scaniverse allowed for improved resolution on the texture of the fur seen in some of the scans. The sea otter was in a state of advanced autolysis, with a pendulous fluid filled abdomen. Clearly visible in the reconstruction is the moderately distended abdomen, fluctuant with a prominent fluid line on ballottement as in Figure 14 (a). The straight-line length of the animal was measured to be 1.09-meters using the reconstruction, a difference of 4.5% from the manual measurement during the examination of 1.14-meters The subcutis is a dull pale green brown and tacky, and the liver is moderately enlarged. Oysters in the stomach contents can be viewed in a scan of the digestive system, along with scans of various organs presented in the web application (Supplementary Table 2). Unfortunately, postmortem change hampered a gross examination of the animal although the suspected cause of death is trauma to the head. The northern fur seal specimen was also in a state of advanced autolysis, although was fairly fleshed Figure 14 (A). There is mild swelling of the head and vulva and the lungs are mottled pale to dark red. The animal was measured at 0.77meters, approximately a 4% difference from that of the manual measurement at 0.80-meters. The harbour seal pup is presented in Figure 14 (α) and is measured through the reconstruction as 0.78meters at a difference of approximately 1% from the manual morphometrics measurement of 0.79meters.



Figure 14: 3D reconstruction of an adult sea otter, juvenile fur seal and harbour seal pup. (a) Measurement of straight-line length of adult sea otter (b) Sea otter carcass with organ systems visible. (c) Sea otter carcass with organ systems removed. (A) Measurement of straight-line length of the juvenile fur seal. (B) Fur seal carcass with organ systems visible. (C) Fur seal carcass with organ systems removed. (α) Measurement of straight-line length of harbour seal pup. (β) Harbour seal carcass with organ systems visible. (γ) Harbour seal carcass with organ systems removed.

A summary of each specimen and associated measurement types, manual and model morphometrics and the percentage difference between the two is compiled in Table 2.

Species	Measurement Type	Manual Morphometric Measurement (m)	Model Morphometric Measurement (m)	Percentage Difference (%)
Inflatable Whale	Straightline Length	4.41	4.40	0.23
	Anterior Flipper Length	0.72	0.71	1.40

Table 2: Morphometric measurements of each specimen achieved manually and through measurement of the models.

	Dorsal Fin Height	0.27	0.26	3.77
	Tail Fluke Width (Half)	0.50	0.48	4.08
Grey Whale (Tsibass)	Straightline Length	12.30	12.35	0.41
	Axillary Girth (Doubled at Half)	5.64	5.60	0.71
	Tail Fluke Width	3.17	3.10	2.23
	Anterior Flipper Length	2.27	1.98	13.65
Grey Whale (Nootka)	Anterior Flipper Length	1.47	1.44	2.06
Humpback Whale	Anterior Flipper Length	2.50	2.47	1.21
Killer Whale	Straightline Length	6.00	6.02	0.33
	Tail Fluke Width	1.44	1.42	1.40
	Dorsal Fin Height	0.63	0.61	3.23
	Anterior Flipper Length	0.95	0.94	1.06
Killer Whale Fetus	Straightline Length	1.53	1.50	1.98
Risso's Dolphin	Straightline Length	2.23	2.21	0.90
Striped Dolphin	Straightline Length	1.95	1.91	2.07

Dall's Porpoise	Straightline Length	2.04	1.97	3.49
Harbour Porpoise (Adult)	Straightline Length	1.50	1.46	2.70
Harbour Porpoise (Calf)	Straightline Length	0.83	0.81	2.44
Sea Otter	Straightline Length	1.14	1.09	4.48
Northern Fur Seal	Straightline Length	0.80	0.77	3.82
Harbour Seal	Straightline Length	0.79	0.78	1.27

3.4.5 Web Application and Virtual Reality

All the scans presented here in addition to those of other organ systems or stages of the necropsy are hosted according to Supplementary Table 2. Here the scans can be visualized, explored, and zoomed in to, as is the major advantage of 3D data versus a series of photographs. Further strandings where LiDAR or photogrammetry data are collected will continue to be added.

The virtual reality implementation of these scans was achieved through a short presentation in ENGAGE VR which highlights the importance of marine mammal necropsies, the possibility of virtual reality in improving the science and education of necropsies. The users within the virtual reality environment are able to walk around and experience several necropsies at close-to life size while a video of the stranding response and pathologists dissecting the whale is displayed above. The application provides a unique sense of the scale of necropsies, especially large whales to those that have never witnessed them in this context. An example screenshot of navigating the virtual reality environment is shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15: Navigation and example of the VR environment where students can investigate what conditions are like during a marine mammal necropsy. (a) The humpback whale shown in VR with the video outlining the necropsy playing above. (b) The grey whale from Nootka Island relative to a person navigating the VR environment.

3.5 Discussion

While all marine mammal 3D datasets were visually reconstructed well in the field, challenges such as water immersion affecting straight-line measurements for large whales were noted (Figures 6 and 7), prompting the need for complementary data integration methods like UAV photographs for large whale strandings for accurate measurements. Polyline measurements were utilized for curvilinear metrics such as girth or flukes that rested curved and showed good agreement to manual measurements (Figure 6). Specific organ system scans for smaller specimens including the striped

dolphin, porpoises, and carnivores facilitated unique data collection opportunities, enhancing documentation and the ability to revisit interpretation of necropsy results, particularly concerning internal and external lesions (e.g., previous sign of vessel strike interaction in Figure 12).

The integration of 3D reconstruction technology into necropsy procedures offers several benefits that were conducted at no reduction in capacity to perform thorough postmortem examinations in the cases shown. This is despite the fact many of the remote necropsies were conducted by only 3-4 personnel. This technology enables the rapid collection of comprehensive data beyond what is achievable through photographs and morphometric data sheets alone. The detailed anatomical information obtained from 3D data facilitates more accurate assessments of causes of mortality and pathology when the physical specimen is not accessible, while also serving as datasets for morphometric analysis and virtual reconstructions. 3D reconstruction technology enables researchers to visualize and analyze remotely stranded specimens in ways that were previously impossible, opening new avenues for research and education. This enhanced documentation of a specimen's anatomy is useful in creating unique additions to permanent records of necropsy findings and simplifying data sharing with other researchers or regions for collaborative analyses. These 3D reconstructions can also be easily overlayed and compared between multiple specimens, enabling the identification of patterns, variations, and anomalies across different individuals or species. Where access to specialized equipment and facilities may be limited, handheld devices equipped with LiDAR sensors such as that of current iPhone models offer a cost-effective and portable solution for conducting necropsies and collecting this additional data. Although all scans can be subsequently processed post-data collection, the more accurate and representative the initial scans are the more likely community partners will be motivated to continue using and finding value in them. This reduces the effort and barriers to making the adoption of this technology standard for postmortem exams.

The findings suggest that the application of this technology is accessible to most users when the outlined instructions are followed diligently. It has demonstrated potential in supporting conventional necropsies, particularly in lesion identification, although histological assessment at time of examination is essential to ensure consistency, especially at adoption phase of this technology. The highest value of this technology is currently in scenarios where conventional necropsies are limited, such as with shown with large whales in Figure 6 and 7. Two primary use
cases emerge: supplementing limited external examinations and complementing internal complete necropsies. The first case is shown to be essential for morphometric analysis where traditional measurements are not possible, and the identification of external lesions and signs of trauma. The second case enables later assessment of the form of internal lesions and organs. While all species are viable subjects, animals assessed in rainy conditions or with high specular reflection, such as the killer whale case here, may exhibit visual anomalies during the creation of the 3D mesh. The combination of LiDAR and photogrammetry during scans collected by Scaniverse is crucial for creating lifelike representations, with LiDAR data being particularly critical for accurate morphometric measurements.

The rapid advent of scanning technology in handheld phones has made this technology easily accessible in a broad range of applications primarily in mapping and geosciences (Tavani et al. 2022; Günen et al. 2023; Luetzenburg et al. 2021), and in fields such as human body measurement (Mikalai et al. 2022). The use of iOS-based LiDAR has been studied for repeatability and bias against reference values collected via manual measurements of a vehicle and filing cabinet (Heinrichs and Yang 2021). These scans are analogous in size to a large whale and smaller cetaceans/carnivores respectively, with their results also producing centimeter-level deviations from manual measurements as seen in these cases for marine mammals. These systems have also been used for cultural heritage applications, where different iOS scanning applications were tested against each other and distance metrics compared (Losè et al. 2022). This study outlines that although all iOS LiDAR sensors are the same, the choice of scanning application impacts the outcome of the scan due to dictating parameters such as scanning point density. In this work only Scaniverse was used and evaluated, although other applications such as 3DScanner, Polycam, and SiteScape perform similar functions. In one study comparing these applications point clouds against high-precision terrestrial LiDAR scanners (Askar and Sternberg 2023), it was shown that Scaniverse has a far lower density of points than any other application which makes on-site field processing far more rapid in Scaniverse. This is especially useful in the use cases outlined in this study for remote and inaccessible environments where quickly analyzing the scan output is important in ensuring the scan was captured properly. This does come at the expense of a lessdense point cloud, although in our examinations the meshes output by Scaniverse were within an

acceptable margin of error for morphometric assessments, given these measurements in the field are subject to their own errors, especially in the large whale cases.

Previous studies that have investigated 3D reconstructions of stranded marine mammals primarily emphasize using this technology either for creating a digital collection of fossils or specimens for museums (Merella et al. 2023; Franci and Berta 2018; Niven et al. 2009), or for input into models that can estimate free-ranging animals body mass and volume for objectives such as bioenergetic analysis and swimming dynamics (Zhang et al. 2023; Irschick et al. 2022). The former cases have shown to create extremely detailed reconstructions that can be 3D printed and re-articulated into true representations of skeletons. The later purpose is rapidly developing and allowing for accurate determinations of many aspects of living marine mammals and progressing the ability to study and understand them in the wild. The only identified uses of this technology in assessing stranded marine mammals in the field is the case of the "Virtual Necropsy" conducted in Alaska (Chenoweth et al. 2022) as well as a fin whale reconstruction in Italy (Del Pizzo et al. 2021). The former appears to be the first time that this technology was used to generate a 3D reconstruction of a necropsy over the course of the animal decomposing. This work garnered broad interest and showcased the value of these scans for use in education, research, and public interest. In the fin whale case, the use of mobile phone photogrammetry to reconstruct a large fin whale was also successful. In this work we provide a complement and extension to this kind of data collection by providing scans from a variety of necropsy situations and species types and showcasing their utility as a documentation and visualization tool as this technology progresses.

The continued advancement of 3D reconstruction technology in the field of marine mammal strandings has significant implications for overall research and conservation efforts in this field. The morphometric and structural data obtained from 3D data offer invaluable reference and validation datasets for constructing accurate models of free-ranging cetaceans, crucial for bioenergetics and other physiological studies. This data also immortalizes these animals, enabling revisitation and improved documentation of rare events such as killer whale strandings. This is essential for monitoring causes of death and population health over time and providing context for future stranding events of all species. The collection of 3D data across populations also simplifies comparative studies in body condition, offering more nuanced methods of comparison beyond girth and straight-line length. The accessibility of this handheld technology allows non-experts and

community members in remote or inaccessible regions to perform scans and engage actively in marine mammal conservation. Beyond British Columbia, this technology provides an opportunity for stranding programs globally with lower resources to collect more comprehensive data on marine mammal strandings by simply using their phone and downloading a 3D scanning application. An example of this is the recent Unusual Mortality Event (UME) for grey whales, where areas like Mexico reported almost half (44.9%) of all strandings in the Eastern North Pacific relative to 4.2% in British Columbia (Raverty et al. 2024). This area simply does not have the resources to collect extensive postmortem data on that many animals, however the utilization of simple accessible tools such as that presented here could serve to augment the data collected from these strandings going forward. Preserving this data for analysis by experts that cannot attend a necropsy is another particularly vital purpose of this technology as progressive decomposition from delayed examination limits the utility of a traditional assessment. Progressive decomposition also compromises the utility of measurements for validation of free-living animals as the animal decomposes, bloats, and changes shape (Christiansen et al. 2019). The fresher the specimen, the more likely both external and internal factors can be observed and determined to contribute to cause of death. These scan products when combined with rapidly improving tools such as virtual reality also present the potential to improve training the new generation of responders and volunteers in necropsy procedures, enhancing their preparedness for stranding events and improving examination efficiency and outcomes. The integration of website and virtual reality visualizations not only facilitates data compilation and dissemination but also ensures its longevity and accessibility to diverse user groups, including students, researchers, and conservation practitioners. The continued collection and use of data from 3D reconstructed marine mammals contributes to a growing integration of technology into wildlife conservation and ecological studies. Further work with this dataset will combine these reconstructions with that of medical imaging including computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to showcase the ability of imaging products to improve the ability to diagnose, document and understand marine mammal health.

3.6 Conclusion

This study investigates the potential of 3D scanning technology within the domain of marine mammal strandings, aiming to assess its applicability, practicality, and consequential impact. By

leveraging accessible LiDAR scanners present in mobile phones, we explored the technology's capacity to reconstruct marine mammal strandings with accuracy and consistency across varied postmortem conditions and ten species. Through our investigation, we have demonstrated the utility of 3D reconstructions in precisely measuring morphometrics in field settings, offering valuable supplementation to traditional field measurements and enhancing documentation practices. In most cases, discrepancies between manual morphometric measurements and that of the 3D reconstruction were less than 2%. The adaptability of this technology extends to educational realms, where it can be employed to train responders and volunteers in necropsy procedures, thereby improving stranding event preparedness and outcomes. The integration of virtual reality and web visualizations serves to disseminate this data effectively across diverse user groups and stakeholders in marine mammal health. Our research underscores the potential impact 3D scanning technology can have on marine mammal and ecological studies, offering a pathway for enhanced research, education, and conservation efforts.

3.7 Supplementary Information

Su	pp	lementary	Table	1:	Flight	Details	From	four	UAV	Flights
					<i>L</i>)					<i>L</i>)

Species	Flight Date	Location	Flight Time	Flight Lines	# Photographs
Inflatable Test Whale	June 2022	Annacis Island	3 minutes 24 seconds	3	58
Grey Whale	June 2022	Nootka Island	2 minutes 49 seconds	3	516
Grey Whale	June 2022	Nootka Island	3 minutes 5 seconds	3	430
Humpback Whale	May 2022	Langara Island	3 minutes 16 seconds	4	712

Species	Location	Web URL (3DHOP)	DOI
Grey Whale	Jarvis Inlet	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/GW1. html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/MDFF93
Grey Whale	Nootka Island	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/GW2. html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/D0GJNL
Humpback Whale	Langara Island	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/HBW .html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/42ZNAS
Killer Whale	Zeballos	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/KW.h tml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/LFNPEQ
Risso's Dolphin	Daajing Giids	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/RD.ht ml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/GIJNDX
Striped Dolphin	Ucluelet	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/SD.ht ml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/3XEAUO
Dall's Porpoise	Victoria	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/DP.ht ml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/P1Y5EY
Harbour Porpoise	Salt Spring Island	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/HP1. html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/VEGUB2
Harbour Porpoise	Tsawwasse n	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/HP2. html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/P7N34H
Sea Otter	Tofino	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/SO.ht ml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/VK8A0D
Northern Fur Seal	Port Hardy	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/NFS. html	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/C7BKDB
Harbour Seal	Vancouver	https://arls3d.geog.m cgill.ca/3dhop/HS.ht ml	https://doi.org/10.5683/SP3/8BUU1I

Supplementary Table 2: 3D Model Web Access and DOI's



Supplementary Figure 16: Typical Marine Mammal Morphometric Sheet

3.8 References

Adamczak, S.K., Pabst, A., McLellan, W.A., Thorne, L.H., 2019. Using 3D Models to Improve Estimates of Marine Mammal Size and External Morphology. Frontiers in Marine Science 6.

Askar, C., Sternberg, H., 2023. Use of Smartphone Lidar Technology for Low-Cost 3D Building Documentation with iPhone 13 Pro: A Comparative Analysis of Mobile Scanning Applications. Geomatics 3, 563–579. https://doi.org/10.3390/geomatics3040030

Au, E.H., Lee, J.J., 2017. Virtual reality in education: a tool for learning in the experience age. IJIIE 4, 215. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJIIE.2017.091481

Barbieri, M.M., Raverty, S., Bradley Hanson, M., Venn-Watson, S., Ford, J.K.B., Gaydos, J.K., 2013. Spatial and temporal analysis of killer whale (Orcinus orca) strandings in the North Pacific Ocean and the benefits of a coordinated stranding response protocol. Marine Mammal Science 29, E448–E462. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12044

Bauwens, S., Bartholomeus, H., Calders, K., Lejeune, P., 2016. Forest Inventory with Terrestrial LiDAR: A Comparison of Static and Hand-Held Mobile Laser Scanning. Forests 7, 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7060127

Berhane, Y., Joseph, T., Lung, O., Embury-Hyatt, C., Xu, W., Cottrell, P., Raverty, S., 2022.
Isolation and Characterization of Novel Reassortant Influenza A(H10N7) Virus in a Harbor Seal,
British Columbia, Canada. Emerg Infect Dis 28, 1480–1484.
https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2807.212302

Bogomolni, A.L., Pugliares, K.R., Sharp, S.M., Patchett, K., Harry, C.T., LaRocque, J.M., Touhey, K.M., Moore, M., 2010. Mortality trends of stranded marine mammals on Cape Cod and southeastern Massachusetts, USA, 2000 to 2006. Dis Aquat Organ 88, 143–155. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02146

Bois, M.C., Morris, J.M., Boland, J.M., Larson, N.L., Scharrer, E.F., Aubry, M.-C., Maleszewski, J.J., 2021. Three-Dimensional Surface Imaging and Printing in Anatomic Pathology. J Pathol Inform 12, 22. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpi.jpi_8_21

Bossart, G.D., 2011. Marine mammals as sentinel species for oceans and human health. Vet Pathol 48, 676–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985810388525

Bowen, W., 1997. Role of marine mammals in aquatic ecosystems. Marine Ecology-progress Series - MAR ECOL-PROGR SER 158, 267–274. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps158267

Brownlie, H.W.B., Munro, R., 2016. The Veterinary Forensic Necropsy: A Review of Procedures and Protocols. Vet Pathol 53, 919–928. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985816655851

Burek, K.A., Gulland, F.M.D., O'Hara, T.M., 2008. Effects of Climate Change on Arctic Marine Mammal Health. Ecological Applications 18, S126–S134. https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0553.1

Byard, R.W., Winskog, C., Machado, A., Boardman, W., 2012. The assessment of lethal propeller strike injuries in sea mammals. J Forensic Leg Med 19, 158–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jflm.2011.12.017

C. Strecha, A. Bronstein, M. Bronstein, P. Fua, 2012. LDAHash: Improved Matching with Smaller Descriptors. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence 34, 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPAMI.2011.103

Carrier-Belleau, C., Drolet, D., McKindsey, C.W., Archambault, P., 2021. Environmental stressors, complex interactions and marine benthic communities' responses. Sci Rep 11, 4194. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83533-1

Cassoff, R., Moore, K., McLellan, W., Barco, S., Rotstein, D., Moore, M., 2011. Lethal entanglement in baleen whales. Dis. Aquat. Org. 96, 175–185. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02385

Castrillon, J., Bengtson Nash, S., 2020. Evaluating cetacean body condition; a review of traditional approaches and new developments. Ecol Evol 10, 6144–6162. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6301

Chenoweth, E.M., Houston, J., Burek Huntington, K., Straley, J.M., 2022. A Virtual Necropsy: Applications of 3D Scanning for Marine Mammal Pathology and Education. Animals 12, 527. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12040527

Chio, S.-H., Hou, K.-W., 2021. Application of a Hand-Held LiDAR Scanner for the Urban Cadastral Detail Survey in Digitized Cadastral Area of Taiwan Urban City. Remote Sensing 13, 4981. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13244981

Christiansen, F., Sironi, M., Moore, M.J., Di Martino, M., Ricciardi, M., Warick, H.A., Irschick, D.J., Gutierrez, R., Uhart, M.M., 2019. Estimating body mass of free-living whales using aerial

photogrammetry and 3D volumetrics. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 10, 2034–2044. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13298

Cipresso, P., Giglioli, I.A.C., Raya, M.A., Riva, G., 2018. The Past, Present, and Future of Virtual and Augmented Reality Research: A Network and Cluster Analysis of the Literature. Frontiers in Psychology 9.

Del Pizzo, S., Troisi, S., Testa, R.L., Sciancalepore, G., Pedrotti, D., Pietroluongo, G., 2021. Photogrammetry applications on stranded cetaceans: fin whale case study and preliminary results. https://doi.org/10.1109/MetroSea52177.2021.9611588

Derville, S., Torres, L.G., Albertson, R., Andrews, O., Baker, C.S., Carzon, P., Constantine, R., Donoghue, M., Dutheil, C., Gannier, A., Oremus, M., Poole, M.M., Robbins, J., Garrigue, C., 2019. Whales in warming water: Assessing breeding habitat diversity and adaptability in Oceania's changing climate. Global Change Biology 25, 1466–1481. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14563

Desai, J., Liu, J., Hainje, R., Oleksy, R., Habib, A., Bullock, D., 2021. Assessing Vehicle Profiling Accuracy of Handheld LiDAR Compared to Terrestrial Laser Scanning for Crash Scene Reconstruction. Sensors 21, 8076. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21238076

Eltner, A., Sofia, G., 2020. Structure from motion photogrammetric technique, in: Developments in Earth Surface Processes. pp. 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64177-9.00001-1

Farahani, N., Braun, A., Jutt, D., Huffman, T., Reder, N., Liu, Z., Yagi, Y., Pantanowitz, L., 2017. Three-dimensional Imaging and Scanning: Current and Future Applications for Pathology. J Pathol Inform 8, 36. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpi.jpi_32_17

Fathi, H., Brilakis, I., 2011. Automated sparse 3D point cloud generation of infrastructure using its distinctive visual features. Advanced Engineering Informatics 25, 760–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2011.06.001

Fitton, J.M., Addo, K.A., Jayson-Quashigah, P.-N., Nagy, G.J., Gutiérrez, O., Panario, D., Carro, I., Seijo, L., Segura, C., Verocai, J.E., Luoma, S., Klein, J., Zhang, T.-T., Birchall, J., Stempel, P., 2021. Challenges to climate change adaptation in coastal small towns: Examples from Ghana, Uruguay, Finland, Denmark, and Alaska. Ocean & Coastal Management 212, 105787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105787

Ford, J.K., 2014. Marine Mammals of British Columbia. Royal BC Museum Victoria, British Columbia.

Franci, G., Berta, A., 2018. Relative Growth of the Skull of the Common Minke Whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata) Using a 3D Laser Surface Scanner. Aquat Mamm 43, 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.44.5.2018.529

Gomes, L., Regina Pereira Bellon, O., Silva, L., 2014. 3D reconstruction methods for digital preservation of cultural heritage: A survey. Pattern Recognition Letters 50, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patrec.2014.03.023

Günen, M.A., Erkan, İ., Aliyazıcıoğlu, Ş., Kumaş, C., 2023. Investigation of geometric object and indoor mapping capacity of Apple iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR. MEPHOJ 5, 82–89. https://doi.org/10.53093/mephoj.1354998

Heinrichs, B.E., Yang, M., 2021. Bias and Repeatability of Measurements from 3D Scans Made Using iOS-Based Lidar, in: SAE International Journal of Advances and Current Practices in Mobility. pp. 2219–2226. https://doi.org/10.4271/2021-01-0891

Hirtle, N.O., Stepanuk, J.E.F., Heywood, E.I., Christiansen, F., Thorne, L.H., 2022. Integrating 3D models with morphometric measurements to improve volumetric estimates in marine mammals. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 13, 2478–2490. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13962

Irschick, D.J., Christiansen, F., Hammerschlag, N., Martin, J., Madsen, P.T., Wyneken, J., Brooks, A., Gleiss, A., Fossette, S., Siler, C., Gamble, T., Fish, F., Siebert, U., Patel, J., Xu, Z., Kalogerakis, E., Medina, J., Mukherji, A., Mandica, M., Zotos, S., Detwiler, J., Perot, B., Lauder, G., 2022. 3D visualization processes for recreating and studying organismal form. iScience 25, 104867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.104867

Kang, Z., Yang, J., Yang, Z., Cheng, S., 2020. A Review of Techniques for 3D Reconstruction of Indoor Environments. ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information 9, 330. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi9050330

Kazhdan, M., Bolitho, M., Hoppe, H., 2006. Poisson surface reconstruction, in: Proceedings of the Fourth Eurographics Symposium on Geometry Processing.

Küker, S., Faverjon, C., Furrer, L., Berezowski, J., Posthaus, H., Rinaldi, F., Vial, F., 2018. The value of necropsy reports for animal health surveillance. BMC Veterinary Research 14, 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-018-1505-1

Lee, K., Alava, J.J., Cottrell, P., Cottrell, L., Grace, R., Zysk, I., Raverty, S., 2023a. Emerging Contaminants and New POPs (PFAS and HBCDD) in Endangered Southern Resident and Bigg's (Transient) Killer Whales (Orcinus orca): In Utero Maternal Transfer and Pollution Management Implications. Environ. Sci. Technol. 57, 360–374. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c04126

Lee, K., Raverty, S., Cottrell, P., Zoveidadianpour, Z., Cottrell, B., Price, D., Alava, J.J., 2023b. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) source identification and a maternal transfer case study in threatened killer whales (Orcinus orca) of British Columbia, Canada. Sci Rep 13, 22580. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-45306-w

Leguia, M., Garcia-Glaessner, A., Muñoz-Saavedra, B., Juarez, D., Barrera, P., Calvo-Mac, C., Jara, J., Silva, W., Ploog, K., Amaro, Lady, Colchao-Claux, P., Johnson, C.K., Uhart, M.M., Nelson, M.I., Lescano, J., 2023. Highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N1) in marine mammals and seabirds in Peru. Nat Commun 14, 5489. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-41182-0

Lehtola, V.V., Nikoohemat, S., Nüchter, A., 2021. Indoor 3D: Overview on Scanning and Reconstruction Methods, in: Werner, M., Chiang, Y.-Y. (Eds.), Handbook of Big Geospatial Data. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 55–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55462-0_3

Liu, W., Sun, J., Li, W., Hu, T., Wang, P., 2019. Deep Learning on Point Clouds and Its Application: A Survey. Sensors 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/s19194188

Luetzenburg, G., Kroon, A., Bjørk, A.A., 2021. Evaluation of the Apple iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR for an Application in Geosciences. Sci Rep 11, 22221. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-01763-9

Ma, Z., Liu, S., 2018. A review of 3D reconstruction techniques in civil engineering and their applications. Advanced Engineering Informatics 37, 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2018.05.005 MacLeod, C.D., 2009. Global climate change, range changes and potential implications for the conservation of marine cetaceans: a review and synthesis. Endangered Species Research 7, 125–136. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00197

Merella, M., Farina, S., Scaglia, P., Caneve, G., Bernardini, G., Pieri, A., Collareta, A., Bianucci, G., 2023. Structured-Light 3D Scanning as a Tool for Creating a Digital Collection of Modern and Fossil Cetacean Skeletons (Natural History Museum, University of Pisa). Heritage 6, 6762–6776. https://doi.org/10.3390/heritage6100353

Mikalai, Z., Andrey, D., Hawas, H.S., Tetiana, H., Oleksandr, S., 2022. Human body measurement with the iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR scanner. AIP Conference Proceedings 2430, 090009. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0078310

Mills, N., Semans, S., Flannery, M., Squire, C., Grimes, S., Jacobsen, J., 2022. A tale of two whales: applying digital imaging and 3D printing to cetacean research and education. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 20, 422–430. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2508

Niven, L., Steele, T.E., Finke, H., Gernat, T., Hublin, J.-J., 2009. Virtual skeletons: using a structured light scanner to create a 3D faunal comparative collection. Journal of Archaeological Science 36, 2018–2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2009.05.021

Nowacek, D.P., Christiansen, F., Bejder, L., Goldbogen, J.A., Friedlaender, A.S., 2016. Studying cetacean behaviour: new technological approaches and conservation applications. Animal Behaviour 120, 235–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.07.019

Pugliares, K.R., Bogomolni, A., Touhey, K.M., Herzig, S.M., Harry, C.T., 2007. Marine Mammal Necropsy: an introductory guide for stranding responders and field biologists. (Report). Woods HOle Oceanographic Institution. https://doi.org/10.1575/1912/1823

Rassineux, A., 1997. 3D mesh adaptation. Optimization of tetrahedral meshes by advancing front technique. Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 141, 335–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-7825(96)01116-4

Raverty, S., Duignan, P., Greig, D., Huggins, J.L., Huntington, K.B., Garner, M., Calambokidis,
J., Cottrell, P., Danil, K., D'Alessandro, D., Duffield, D., Flannery, M., Gulland, F.M., Halaska,
B., Lambourn, D.M., Lehnhart, T., Urbán R., J., Rowles, T., Rice, J., Savage, K., Wilkinson, K.,

Greenman, J., Viezbicke, J., Cottrell, B., Goley, P.D., Martinez, M., Fauquier, D., 2024. Gray whale (Eschrichtius robustus) post-mortem findings from December 2018 through 2021 during the Unusual Mortality Event in the Eastern North Pacific. PLoS ONE 19, e0295861. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0295861

Rhodes-Reese, M., Clay, D., Cunningham, C., Moriles-Miller, J., Reese, C., Roman, J., Warren, J.D., Pearson, H.C., 2021. Examining the Role of Marine Mammals and Seabirds in Southeast Alaska's Marine Ecosystem Dynamics. Front. Mar. Sci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.720277

Rosenberg, J., Haulena, M., Hoang, L., Morshed, M., Zabek, E., Raverty, S., 2016. Cryptococcus gattii Type VGIIa Infection in Harbor Seals (Phoca vitulina) in British Columbia, Canada. Journal of wildlife diseases 52. https://doi.org/10.7589/2015-11-299

Schoeman, R.P., Patterson-Abrolat, C., Plön, S., 2020. A Global Review of Vessel Collisions With Marine Animals. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00292

Simmonds, M.P., Isaac, S.J., 2007. The impacts of climate change on marine mammals: early signs of significant problems. Oryx 41, 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605307001524

Storlund, R.L., Cottrell, P.E., Cottrell, B., Roth, M., Lehnhart, T., Snyman, H., Trites, A.W., Raverty, S.A., 2024. Aquaculture related humpback whale entanglements in coastal waters of British Columbia from 2008–2021. PLOS ONE 19, e0297768. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0297768

Tavani, S., Billi, A., Corradetti, A., Mercuri, M., Bosman, A., Cuffaro, M., Seers, T., Carminati, E., 2022. Smartphone assisted fieldwork: Towards the digital transition of geoscience fieldwork using LiDAR-equipped iPhones. Earth-Science Reviews 227, 103969. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2022.103969

Teman, S., Gaydos, J., Norman, S., Huggins, J., Lambourn, D., Calambokidis, J., Ford, J., Hanson, M., Haulena, M., Zabek, E., Cottrell, P., Hoang, L., Morshed, M., Garner, M., Raverty, S., 2021. Epizootiology of a Cryptococcus gattii outbreak in porpoises and dolphins from the Salish Sea. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 146. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03630

Teppati Losè, L., Spreafico, A., Chiabrando, F., Giulio Tonolo, F., 2022. Apple LiDAR Sensor for 3D Surveying: Tests and Results in the Cultural Heritage Domain. Remote Sensing 14, 4157. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14174157

Tsui, H.C.L., Kot, B.C.W., Chung, T.Y.T., Chan, D.K.P., 2020. Virtopsy as a Revolutionary Tool for Cetacean Stranding Programs: Implementation and Management. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.542015

VanWormer, E., Mazet, J. a. K., Hall, A., Gill, V.A., Boveng, P.L., London, J.M., Gelatt, T., Fadely, B.S., Lander, M.E., Sterling, J., Burkanov, V.N., Ream, R.R., Brock, P.M., Rea, L.D., Smith, B.R., Jeffers, A., Henstock, M., Rehberg, M.J., Burek-Huntington, K.A., Cosby, S.L., Hammond, J.A., Goldstein, T., 2019. Viral emergence in marine mammals in the North Pacific may be linked to Arctic sea ice reduction. Sci Rep 9, 15569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51699-4

Waltzek, T.B., Cortés-Hinojosa, G., Wellehan Jr., J.F.X., Gray, G.C., 2012. Marine Mammal Zoonoses: A Review of Disease Manifestations. Zoonoses Public Health 59, 521–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2012.01492.x

Wandinger, U., 2005. Introduction to lidar, in: Lidar: Range-Resolved Optical Remote Sensing of the Atmosphere. Springer, pp. 1–18.

Williams, R.S., Brownlow, A., Baillie, A., Barber, J.L., Barnett, J., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R., ten Doeschate, M., Murphy, S., Penrose, R., Perkins, M., Spiro, S., Williams, R., Jepson, P.D., Curnick, D.J., Jobling, S., 2023. Spatiotemporal Trends Spanning Three Decades Show Toxic Levels of Chemical Contaminants in Marine Mammals. Environ. Sci. Technol. 57, 20736–20749. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.3c01881

Wund, S., Méheust, E., Dars, C., Dabin, W., Demaret, F., Guichard, B., Jauniaux, T., Labrut, S., Spitz, J., Van Canneyt, O., Caurant, F., 2023. Strengthening the health surveillance of marine mammals in the waters of metropolitan France by monitoring strandings. Front. Mar. Sci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1116819

Zhang, C., Zhou, H., Christiansen, F., Hao, Y., Wang, K., Kou, Z., Chen, R., Min, J., Davis, R., Wang, D., 2023. Marine mammal morphometrics: 3D modeling and estimation validation. Front. Mar. Sci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1105629

Zhou, L., Wu, G., Zuo, Y., Chen, X., Hu, H., 2024. A Comprehensive Review of Vision-Based 3D Reconstruction Methods. Sensors 24, 2314. https://doi.org/10.3390/s24072314

Chapter 4. Summary and Conclusions

4.1 Summary

By creating accurate 3D reconstructions of stranded marine mammals, it was shown that this technology can obtain precise morphometric data and visualizations, offering new tools for studying these animals' anatomy and health. This approach not only provides a simple means of gathering additional data but also has broader implications for conservation, enabling more detailed and accessible studies that can inform effective management and protection strategies for marine mammal populations.

The research primarily focuses on evaluating 3D scanning technology's accuracy and adaptability across diverse conditions in British Columbia and ten species of marine mammals. Notably, it assesses how effectively this technology performs in remote environments, which is particularly crucial for documenting large whale strandings. The findings demonstrate the significant potential of 3D scanning to enhance the documentation of necropsies and improve the precision of morphometric measurements directly in the field.

By fostering partnerships between local communities, indigenous groups, conservation organizations, and governmental bodies, the technology encourages a collaborative approach. The study underscores the importance of continuing to develop and implement advanced technological solutions to address the challenges faced in marine mammal conservation, particularly in remote and challenging environments.

4.2 Broader Discussion and Implications

Marine mammal conservation research has evolved significantly over the past two decades, driven by a growing understanding of the threats these species face and the need for effective conservation strategies. Researchers have employed and continue to develop various methodologies, including field observations (Southall et al. 2012), population modeling (Gormley et al. 2012), and genetic studies (Rosel et al. 2017) to monitor marine mammal populations and assess their health. This research has highlighted the critical impacts of pollution, climate change, and human activities such as shipping and fishing on marine mammal species, leading to the development of targeted conservation policies and mitigation measures. Among the key methodologies, necropsies continue to evolve as an invaluable tool in marine mammal research. As mentioned previously, providing detailed insights into the causes of death, disease prevalence, and the effects of environmental contaminants, necropsies have enabled researchers to identify emerging health threats and understand their implications for marine mammal populations. The data derived from necropsies have informed regulatory measures (IJsseldijk et al. 2019), public awareness campaigns (Worthy 1999), and species recovery programs (Stacy et al. 2016), ensuring that conservation efforts are based on solid scientific evidence.

The integration of 3D reconstruction technologies like LiDAR and photogrammetry in marine mammal necropsies represents a paradigm shift in veterinary pathology and wildlife research. These technologies enable researchers to increase the ability to obtain high-resolution images and models of marine mammals, which are crucial for accurate post-mortem examinations. Traditionally, necropsy procedures, especially in large whales, are hindered by logistical challenges due to the size and the decomposed state of stranded specimens. 3D reconstructions allow for a non-invasive and simple method to conduct a detailed examination of the external and internal anatomy, preserving the physical state digitally before decomposition progresses. As just one example, marine mammals, particularly cetaceans, face a high rate of mortality due to bycatch in various fishing gears like purse seine, longline, and gillnets (Hutchinson et al. 2024). Improved necropsy imaging techniques such as 3D reconstruction technology can play a crucial role in addressing this issue by providing anatomical and physiological insights through a more accurate assessment of the injuries sustained and the potential causes of death. This has the consequence of enhancing our understanding of the impact of bycatch, ultimately helping to reduce mortality rates and improve the conservation of marine mammal populations.

3D technologies increase diagnostic precision by allowing pathologists to revisit the digital models at any point, offering opportunities for a more thorough analysis as new diagnostic information becomes available. For instance, in cases of stranded grey whales (Figures 6 and 7) displayed in this thesis, the use of 3D scanning has revealed intricate details about their physical conditions, such as the extent of emaciation or specific internal injuries that could be linked to ship strikes or entanglement. This provides concrete evidence that can lead to policy changes aimed at reducing such incidents. Anomalies visible in 3D scans might also point to nutritional deficiencies linked to overfishing or habitat degradation, which impact prey availability. There are many incidences of marine mammal skeletons being accurately 3D reconstructed for these kinds of purposes (Kot et al. 2020; Mills et al. 2022; de Vriend et al., 2018.), and the use of these models have been utilized effectively to simulate the physical impact of vessel strikes on large whales (Daume et al. 2023). Continuation of this research for not only skeletons but entire stranded animals can help elucidate these complex and often lesser understood interactions between vessels and marine mammals. These capabilities make 3D scanning a potent tool for proactive conservation efforts, allowing for the adjustment of management strategies in real time.

The detailed morphometric analysis enabled by 3D reconstructions studies in this thesis can also help in studying growth patterns, age-related changes, and species-specific anomalies. With a low margin of error, measurements from stranding data can improve from the opportunistic nature of measurement collection done currently to now having the capability to create accurate digital representations of the animal at the time of stranding. These insights are essential for managing and conserving these species, especially in remote environments such as that studied in British Columbia, in addition to rapidly changing environments such as the Arctic where these species face increased challenges from climate change and human activities (Laidre et al. 2015). The accumulation of 3D reconstructions and the subsequent improved ability to collect morphometrics presents a new method in digitally preserving the integrity of specimens as strandings occur. This also invites the potential to create a digital archive that can be revisited as new scientific techniques or insights emerge, not too dissimilar to for example the Warkins marine mammal sound database (Sayigh et al. 2017). Over time, the accumulation of 3D necropsy data can facilitate longitudinal studies of marine mammal populations, tracking health trends, and changes in response to environmental pressures more accurately than has been done previously.

Morphometrics estimations for live marine mammals have developed from basic estimations of body volume and mass (Hodgson et al. 2020), to truncated cone models (Shero et al. 2014) and most recently to models that take a series of many scalar morphometric measurements to generate an highly accurate 3D representation of an animal (Zhang et al. 2023). All these studies depend heavily on the "ground truth" of a real, often deceased animal that can be used to validate what these 3D models of live animals captures. The 3D reconstruction methods and techniques explored here provide a potential avenue to providing more accurate morphometric assessments of stranded

animals not only for assessment of the strandings themselves but also provide the opportunity to improve the validation of 3D models of live animals, which are highly sought after for studying important quantities related to bioenergetics (Schmidt-Nielsen 1972), thermoregulatory demands (Gillooly et al. 2001), diving responses (Williams 1999) or other metrics otherwise unable to be collected.

The collection of 3D reconstructions themselves also does not necessarily have to be isolated to deceased animals. Some preliminary studies have been conducted to assess the ability to 3D reconstruct live marine mammals (MMRP 2021), which present more challenges with respect to data collection but if done correctly are obviously much more representative of the free-ranging animal than a 3D model generated from morphometrics of a deceased animal. The limitations of studying only dead animals through the impact of postmortem change to the carcass is one previously mentioned limitation of using the form of stranded animals as a proxy for live animals at least in the case of large whales (Christiansen et al. 2019).

Further, the utility of 3D technologies also has the potential to extend to the management of stranding events, where rapid diagnostic capabilities can significantly affect the outcomes for live-stranded animals. The need has been identified for example to include the use of advanced imaging technologies and post-release monitoring for live stranding events (Boys et al. 2022) By quickly creating a detailed model of a stranded marine mammal, rescuers and veterinarians can assess its physical condition accurately and make informed decisions about the necessary interventions and follow its recovery. This swift response can be the difference between life and death, especially in cases where rapid medical assessment and intervention are required.

On a policy level, the data derived from 3D models and the advancement of other monitoring techniques has the potential to significantly influence marine conservation laws and guidelines (Nelms et al. 2021). By providing undeniable evidence of the impacts of human activities on marine mammals, this technology supports stronger legislative measures for habitat protection, sustainable fishing practices, and the regulation of marine traffic. As international bodies look towards integrating science-based approaches into conservation (Svancara et al. 2005), 3D reconstructions offer a valuable tool for crafting effective and informed global strategies that address both local and worldwide threats to marine biodiversity. The introduction of accessible tools explored here to improve science-based approaches also allows for the increased involvement

of local communities and the human dimension of marine mammal management which is an increasingly important intersection (Lovecraft and Meek 2011).

Similarly, beyond research and direct conservation applications, this 3D scanning technology also has significant implications for education and public engagement. Detailed models of marine mammals can be used in educational programs to interactively illustrate the complex anatomy and conservation issues surrounding these species. With increased awareness on the impacts on and subsequent reduction of marine mammals in captivity (Rose et al. 2006), this reduction of one of the main drivers of public awareness and engagement in marine mammal conservation has left a hole for younger generations especially (Jiang et al. 2007). By making these models accessible in digital or physical forms through 3D printing, institutions can enhance public understanding and support for marine conservation efforts. Such initiatives also foster a deeper connection between the public and marine environments, leading to increased support for conservation policies.

For 3D scanning technology to have a wide-ranging impact in marine conservation, it must be accessible not only in terms of cost but also in terms of usability. Simplifying the operation of these tools is crucial so that they can be used effectively by a wide range of individuals, from research scientists to local community members and volunteers participating in stranding networks. The use of these scanning applications on devices already owned by most people even in remote environments such as iPhones provides one such avenue to increasing the accessibility of this technology. By improving the development of intuitive user interfaces and possibly the integration of automated features that guide the user through the scanning process, reducing the likelihood of operator error and ensuring the quality of the data collected. As demonstrated here, even by following a simple step-by-step guide of the use of the scanning application can make this technology accessible to most people in places where marine mammals strand.

Going hand in hand with accessible technologies is proper training in the use of this 3D scanning equipment as a critical aspect to ensuring high-quality 3D reconstruction data collection. This training should cover not only the technical aspects of operating the scanners but also the interpretation of the data they generate. Workshops, online tutorials, and certification programs can be developed to equip users with the necessary skills and knowledge to implement this technology. Training workshops in marine mammal conservation have been shown to be successful (di Sciara et al. 2016; Clegg et al. 2021), indicating that integrating this kind of 3D reconstruction

training with existing community training is possible. Additionally, creating standardized protocols for data collection and processing through training community partners can help maintain consistency across different users and locations, which is vital for longitudinal studies and largescale monitoring efforts. To fully leverage 3D scanning technologies in marine mammal conservation, collaboration among these technology developers, research institutions, conservation organizations, and local communities is crucial, with shared resources like centralized databases and collaborative platforms enhancing data utility and providing a comprehensive view of marine mammal health and trends across regions.

The data collected from 3D scanners, particularly in complex field conditions, can be voluminous and complex, requiring significant processing and storage capabilities. Developing streamlined data processing software that can run on portable devices or through cloud-based platforms is one such development that could allow field researchers to analyze and interpret data on-site, making immediate decisions based on their findings. As shown in the thesis, Scaniverse can process such results within the application itself and usually at high quality. This capability is especially important in emergency stranding events where rapid response is crucial or the necropsy is limited by environmental or other factors.

Maintaining the reliability and accuracy of data in field conditions is another major challenge for scalability of 3D reconstruction technology for the purpose of analyzing marine mammal strandings. Environmental factors such as lighting, background interference, and the physical condition of the animal can affect the quality of 3D scans. This was seen in the killer whale scan explored in this thesis where specular reflections were clearly apparent on the scan and impacted the visual representation of the animal relative to what it looked like in reality. Advanced calibration techniques, error-checking algorithms, and artificial intelligence driven analysis need to be integrated into the scanning software to compensate for these variables. Part of this will improve as these scanning applications improve their algorithms, however regular testing, updates, and maintenance of the equipment is a critical component of ensuring consistent performance between scanners and operators.

4.3 Future Directions

Looking forward, the expansion of applications of 3D reconstruction beyond from where they are currently applied to include a broader range of aquatic and terrestrial wildlife is one pathway to improving the uptake in usage of this technology. This has been achieved for 3D models in general (Irschick et al. 2022), but incorporating the entire chain of accessible data collection with user-friendly equipment to processing and visualization would be a natural progression of this work. Comparative studies in the performance of reconstruction technology across different species and environments could uncover universal limitations to the scanning methodology and uncover further best practices while promoting the adoption of the technology.

Integrating 3D reconstructions and advanced imaging with other data types, such as genetic information and environmental data, represents the next frontier in wildlife research. For example, combining 3D scans of marine mammals with genetic data can help identify genetic markers associated with physical traits or disease susceptibility. Additionally, integrating 3D reconstructions with environmental data, such as ocean temperature, salinity, and pollution levels, can reveal how these factors influence the morphology and health of marine mammals. Currently the integration of marine mammal health data with environmental data focuses on climate change and habitat loss (Silber et al. 2017; Harwood 2001; Bruyn et al. 2009) or on anthropogenic impacts such as sonar effects (Pirotta et al. 2022). Genetic studies are also widely integrated into more holistic studies of biogeography and population recovery to improve the spatial scale of genetic data and place it in a broader ecosystem context (Stronen et al. 2022; Chen et al. 2018). Continuing to refine and expand these hybrid models can improve the ability to provide a holistic view of wildlife health and ecosystem dynamics, correlating morphological data with genetic markers or environmental conditions to offer insights into how external factors like climate change or habitat disruption impact species at a genetic and morphological level. This should be the end goal for all new technologies but especially 3D reconstruction technology in its early adoption phase.

Integration with existing datasets and established methodologies to quantify marine mammal health is critical, as a series of 3D reconstructions find little value if there is no ability to integrate them with other relevant data. To maximize the impact of multi-dimensional data, it is crucial to improve the integration and accessibility of data across different research platforms and stakeholders (Neves et al. 2023; Magera et al. 2013; Srinivasan 2018). Establishing shared

databases and collaborative networks can facilitate the exchange of information and foster a collaborative approach to wildlife research and conservation. This environment would not only enhance the scope and depth of research but also accelerate innovation in conservation strategies, driven by a comprehensive understanding of wildlife health and ecosystem dynamics. Leveraging the comprehensive data provided by these integrated models, researchers can develop more accurate predictive tools that forecast changes in population health, distribution, and resilience (Kaschner et al. 2011). Predictive modelling in this space currently focusses on modelling marine mammal prey (Pendleton et al. 2020), extrapolating from bio-loggers (McClintock et al. 2013) or modelling other environmental variables to assess the extent and health of habitat (Palacios et al. 2013; Bailey and Thompson 2009). These tools are invaluable for conservation planning, allowing policymakers and conservationists to better implement proactive strategies based on predicted future conditions rather than rely on reactive measures. The use of 3D reconstruction technology to augment the data that is used as input parameters to these models has the capability to improve the validity of the model output thus increasing the accuracy of predictions and allowing for more focussed conservation efforts. This forward-looking approach is the key to enhancing the effectiveness of conservation efforts, ensuring that they are adaptive and robust and able to integrate new technological advancements quickly in the face of rapid environmental changes.

4.4 Conclusions

This study investigates the potential of 3D scanning technology within the domain of marine mammal strandings, aiming to assess its applicability, practicality, and impact. By leveraging accessible LiDAR scanners in mobile phones, we explored the technology's capacity to reconstruct marine mammal strandings accurately and consistently across varied postmortem conditions and species. Our findings demonstrate the utility of 3D reconstructions in measuring morphometrics in field settings, offering valuable supplementation to traditional measurements and enhancing documentation practices.

3D scanning technology proves adaptable in diverse and challenging environments, crucial for large whale strandings where logistical challenges can hinder thorough examinations. The ability to create detailed 3D models on-site allows for comprehensive examinations, capturing nuances that might be missed with traditional methods. This improved documentation facilitates better data sharing and collaboration among researchers, providing a valuable resource for future studies.

The educational applications of 3D scanning technology are also significant. By creating virtual models of marine mammals, educators can offer immersive, interactive experiences that foster a deeper understanding of marine mammal biology and conservation issues. These models can be used in virtual reality environments, enhancing public engagement and support for marine conservation efforts.

Our study highlights the importance of accessible technology in engaging communities and advancing wildlife conservation globally. Utilizing widely available tools such as mobile phones democratizes 3D scanning, allowing those in resource-poor environments to contribute valuable data. This approach empowers local communities and enriches the global dataset on marine mammal health and strandings.

Looking forward, integrating 3D reconstruction technology with genetic and environmental data represents a promising frontier in wildlife research. Hybrid models combining these data streams could provide comprehensive insights into the health and resilience of marine mammal populations facing climate change and habitat loss. Such models could predict future trends in population health and guide proactive conservation efforts.

In conclusion, 3D scanning technology offers significant potential for advancing research, education, and conservation efforts in marine mammal strandings and overall research. By providing detailed visualizations of marine mammal specimens, we offer valuable tools for documenting and understanding marine mammal strandings. As the technology evolves, its potential applications in wildlife research and conservation are likely to expand, offering new opportunities to protect and preserve marine mammal populations worldwide.

Reference List

Adamczak, S. K., Ann Pabst, W. A. McLellan, and L. H. Thorne. 2019. "Using 3D Models to Improve Estimates of Marine Mammal Size and External Morphology." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6 (June). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00334.

Álvarez-González, Miguel, Paula Suarez-Bregua, Graham J. Pierce, and Camilo Saavedra. 2023. "Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) in Marine Mammal Research: A Review of Current Applications and Challenges." *Drones* 7 (11): 667. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones7110667.

Askar, Cigdem, and Harald Sternberg. 2023. "Use of Smartphone Lidar Technology for Low-Cost 3D Building Documentation with iPhone 13 Pro: A Comparative Analysis of Mobile Scanning Applications." *Geomatics* 3 (4): 563–79. https://doi.org/10.3390/geomatics3040030.

Au, Elliot Hu, and Joey J. Lee. 2017. "Virtual Reality in Education: A Tool for Learning in the Experience Age." *International Journal of Innovation in Education* 4 (4): 215. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJIIE.2017.091481.

Bailey, Helen, and Paul M. Thompson. 2009. "Using Marine Mammal Habitat Modelling to Identify Priority Conservation Zones within a Marine Protected Area." *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 378 (March):279–87. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07887.

Baker, C. Scott, and Phillip J. Clapham. 2004. "Modelling the Past and Future of Whales and Whaling." *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 19 (7): 365–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.05.005.

Barbieri, Michelle M., Stephen Raverty, M. Bradley Hanson, Stephanie Venn-Watson, John K. B. Ford, and Joseph K. Gaydos. 2013. "Spatial and Temporal Analysis of Killer Whale (Orcinus Orca) Strandings in the North Pacific Ocean and the Benefits of a Coordinated Stranding Response Protocol." *Marine Mammal Science* 29 (4): E448–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12044.

Bates, Karl, Peter Falkingham, Frank Rarity, David Hodgetts, A Purslow, and Phillip Manning. 2010. "Application of High-Resolution Laser Scanning and Photogrammetric Techniques to Data Acquisition, Analysis and Interpretation in Palaeontology." *International Archives of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences* XXXVIII (January):68–73.

Bauwens, Sébastien, Harm Bartholomeus, Kim Calders, and Philippe Lejeune. 2016. "Forest Inventory with Terrestrial LiDAR: A Comparison of Static and Hand-Held Mobile Laser Scanning." *Forests* 7 (6): 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7060127.

Becker, E. A., K. A. Forney, M. C. Ferguson, D. G. Foley, R. C. Smith, J. Barlow, and J. V. Redfern. 2010. "Comparing California Current Cetacean–Habitat Models Developed Using in Situ and Remotely Sensed Sea Surface Temperature Data." *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 413 (August):163–83. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08696.

Benbow, M. Eric, Joseph P. Receveur, and Gary A. Lamberti. 2020. "Death and Decomposition in Aquatic Ecosystems." *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 8 (February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020.00017.

Berhane, Yohannes, Tomy Joseph, Oliver Lung, Carissa Embury-Hyatt, Wanhong Xu, Paul Cottrell, and Stephen Raverty. 2022. "Isolation and Characterization of Novel Reassortant Influenza A(H10N7) Virus in a Harbor Seal, British Columbia, Canada." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 28 (7): 1480–84. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2807.212302.

Bogomolni, Andrea L., Katie R. Pugliares, Sarah M. Sharp, Kristen Patchett, Charles T. Harry, Jane M. LaRocque, Kathleen M. Touhey, and Michael Moore. 2010. "Mortality Trends of Stranded Marine Mammals on Cape Cod and Southeastern Massachusetts, USA, 2000 to 2006." *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 88 (2): 143–55. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02146.

Bois, Melanie C., Jonathan M. Morris, Jennifer M. Boland, Nicole L. Larson, Emily F. Scharrer, Marie-Christine Aubry, and Joseph J. Maleszewski. 2021. "Three-Dimensional Surface Imaging and Printing in Anatomic Pathology." *Journal of Pathology Informatics* 12 (May):22. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpi.jpi 8 21.

Borowicz, Alex, Hieu Le, Grant Humphries, Georg Nehls, Caroline Höschle, Vladislav Kosarev, and Heather J. Lynch. 2019. "Aerial-Trained Deep Learning Networks for Surveying Cetaceans from Satellite Imagery." *PLOS ONE* 14 (10): e0212532. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212532.

Bossart, G. D. 2011. "Marine Mammals as Sentinel Species for Oceans and Human Health." *Veterinary Pathology* 48 (3): 676–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985810388525.

Bowen, William. 1997. "Role of Marine Mammals in Aquatic Ecosystems." *Marine Ecology-Progress Series - MAR ECOL-PROGR SER* 158 (November):267–74. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps158267.

Boys, Rebecca M., Ngaio J. Beausoleil, Matthew D. M. Pawley, Katherine E. Littlewood, Emma L. Betty, and Karen A. Stockin. 2022. "Fundamental Concepts, Knowledge Gaps and Key Concerns Relating to Welfare and Survival of Stranded Cetaceans." *Diversity* 14 (5): 338. https://doi.org/10.3390/d14050338.

Brownlie, H. W. Brooks, and R. Munro. 2016. "The Veterinary Forensic Necropsy: A Review of Procedures and Protocols." *Veterinary Pathology* 53 (5): 919–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985816655851.

Bruyn, Mark de, Brenda L. Hall, Lucas F. Chauke, Carlo Baroni, Paul L. Koch, and A. Rus Hoelzel. 2009. "Rapid Response of a Marine Mammal Species to Holocene Climate and Habitat Change." *PLOS Genetics* 5 (7): e1000554. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000554.

Burek, Kathy A., Frances M. D. Gulland, and Todd M. O'Hara. 2008. "Effects of Climate Change on Arctic Marine Mammal Health." *Ecological Applications* 18 (sp2): S126–34. https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0553.1.

Burns, J. H. R., D. Delparte, R. D. Gates, and M. Takabayashi. 2015. "Integrating Structure-from-Motion Photogrammetry with Geospatial Software as a Novel Technique for Quantifying 3D Ecological Characteristics of Coral Reefs." *PeerJ* 3 (July):e1077. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1077.

Byard, Roger W., Calle Winskog, Aaron Machado, and Wayne Boardman. 2012. "The Assessment of Lethal Propeller Strike Injuries in Sea Mammals." *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine* 19 (3): 158–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jflm.2011.12.017.

C. Strecha, A. Bronstein, M. Bronstein, and P. Fua. 2012. "LDAHash: Improved Matching with Smaller Descriptors." *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence* 34 (1): 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPAMI.2011.103.

Carrier-Belleau, Charlotte, David Drolet, Christopher W. McKindsey, and Philippe Archambault. 2021. "Environmental Stressors, Complex Interactions and Marine Benthic Communities' Responses." *Scientific Reports* 11 (1): 4194. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83533-1.

Cassoff, Rm, Km Moore, Wa McLellan, Sg Barco, Ds Rotstein, and Mj Moore. 2011. "Lethal Entanglement in Baleen Whales." *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 96 (3): 175–85. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02385.

Castrillon, Juliana, and Susan Bengtson Nash. 2020. "Evaluating Cetacean Body Condition; a Review of Traditional Approaches and New Developments." *Ecology and Evolution* 10 (12): 6144–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6301.

Chen, Ing, Shin Nishida, Lien-Siang Chou, Yuko Tajima, Wei-Cheng Yang, Tomohiko Isobe, Tadasu K. Yamada, Karin Hartman, and A. Rus Hoelzel. 2018. "Concordance between Genetic Diversity and Marine Biogeography in a Highly Mobile Marine Mammal, the Risso's Dolphin." *Journal of Biogeography* 45 (9): 2092–2103. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13360.

Chenoweth, Ellen M., Josh Houston, Kathy Burek Huntington, and Jan M. Straley. 2022. "A Virtual Necropsy: Applications of 3D Scanning for Marine Mammal Pathology and Education." *Animals* 12 (4): 527. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12040527.

Chio, Shih-Hong, and Kai-Wen Hou. 2021. "Application of a Hand-Held LiDAR Scanner for the Urban Cadastral Detail Survey in Digitized Cadastral Area of Taiwan Urban City." *Remote Sensing* 13 (24): 4981. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13244981.

Christiansen, Fredrik, Mariano Sironi, Michael J. Moore, Matías Di Martino, Marcos Ricciardi, Hunter A. Warick, Duncan J. Irschick, Robert Gutierrez, and Marcela M. Uhart. 2019. "Estimating Body Mass of Free-Living Whales Using Aerial Photogrammetry and 3D Volumetrics." *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 10 (12): 2034–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13298.

Cipresso, Pietro, Irene Alice Chicchi Giglioli, Mariano Alcañiz Raya, and Giuseppe Riva. 2018. "The Past, Present, and Future of Virtual and Augmented Reality Research: A Network and Cluster Analysis of the Literature." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/psychology/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02086. Citta, John J., Lloyd F. Lowry, Lori T. Quakenbush, Brendan P. Kelly, Anthony S. Fischbach, Josh M. London, Chadwick V. Jay, et al. 2018. "A Multi-Species Synthesis of Satellite Telemetry Data in the Pacific Arctic (1987–2015): Overlap of Marine Mammal Distributions and Core Use Areas." *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, Synthesis of Arctic Research SOAR Phase II, 152 (June):132–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2018.02.006.

Clegg, Isabella L. K., Rebecca M. Boys, and Karen A. Stockin. 2021. "Increasing the Awareness of Animal Welfare Science in Marine Mammal Conservation: Addressing Language, Translation and Reception Issues." *Animals* 11 (6): 1596. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11061596.

Cordes, D. O. 1982. "The Causes of Whale Strandings." *New Zealand Veterinary Journal* 30 (3): 21–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.1982.34865.

Daume, Hannah Viola, Helena Herr, Heinrich Mallison, Matthias Glaubrecht, and Thomas M. Kaiser. 2023. "Osteo-Pathological Analysis Provides Evidence for a Survived Historical Ship Strike in a Southern Hemisphere Fin Whale (Balaenoptera Physalus)." *PLOS ONE* 18 (2): e0281316. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281316.

Dawson, Stephen, M. Bowman, Eva Leunissen, and Pascal Sirguey. 2017. "Inexpensive Aerial Photogrammetry for Studies of Whales and Large Marine Animals." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 4 (November):366. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00366.

De Vere, Amber J., Malin K. Lilley, and Erin E. Frick. 2018. "Anthropogenic Impacts on the Welfare of Wild Marine Mammals." *Aquatic Mammals* 44 (2): 150–80. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.44.2.2018.150.

Del Pizzo, Silvio, Salvatore Troisi, Rosa Linda Testa, Giuseppe Sciancalepore, Davide Pedrotti, and Guido Pietroluongo. 2021. *Photogrammetry Applications on Stranded Cetaceans: Fin Whale Case Study and Preliminary Results*. https://doi.org/10.1109/MetroSea52177.2021.9611588.

Dennison, S., M. J. Moore, A. Fahlman, K. Moore, S. Sharp, C. T. Harry, J. Hoppe, M. Niemeyer,
B. Lentell, and R. S. Wells. 2011. "Bubbles in Live-Stranded Dolphins." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 279 (1732): 1396–1404. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.1754. Dennison, Sophie, Andreas Fahlman, and Michael Moore. 2012. "The Use of Diagnostic Imaging for Identifying Abnormal Gas Accumulations in Cetaceans and Pinnipeds." *Frontiers in Physiology* 3 (June). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00181.

Denson, Ryan. 2021. "Divine Nature and the Natural Divine: The Marine Folklore of Pliny the Elder." *Green Letters* 25 (2): 143–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/14688417.2021.1951325.

Derville, Solène, Leigh G. Torres, Renee Albertson, Olive Andrews, C. Scott Baker, Pamela Carzon, Rochelle Constantine, et al. 2019. "Whales in Warming Water: Assessing Breeding Habitat Diversity and Adaptability in Oceania's Changing Climate." *Global Change Biology* 25 (4): 1466–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14563.

Desai, Jairaj, Jidong Liu, Robert Hainje, Robert Oleksy, Ayman Habib, and Darcy Bullock. 2021. "Assessing Vehicle Profiling Accuracy of Handheld LiDAR Compared to Terrestrial Laser Scanning for Crash Scene Reconstruction." *Sensors* 21 (23): 8076. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21238076.

Dickson, Toby, William Rayment, and Steve Dawson. 2021. "Drone Photogrammetry Allows Refinement of Acoustically Derived Length Estimation for Male Sperm Whales." *Marine Mammal Science* 37 (3): 1150–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12795.

Dierauf, Leslie, and Frances M. D. Gulland. 2001. *CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine: Health, Disease, and Rehabilitation, Second Edition*. CRC Press.

Dong, Pinliang, and Qi Chen. 2017. *LiDAR Remote Sensing and Applications*. Boca Raton: CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351233354.

Duc, Paul Nguyen Hong. 2020. "Development of Artificial Intelligence Methods for Marine Mammal Detection and Classification of Underwater Sounds in a Weak Supervision (but) Big Data-Expert Context." Phdthesis, Sorbonne Université. https://theses.hal.science/tel-03575600.

Eder, Elena B., Jonathan S. Almonacid, Claudio Delrieux, and Mirtha N. Lewis. 2022. "Body Volume and Mass Estimation of Southern Elephant Seals Using 3D Range Scanning and Neural Network Models." *Marine Mammal Science* 38 (3): 1037–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12910.

Eltner, Anette, and Giulia Sofia. 2020. "Structure from Motion Photogrammetric Technique." In *Developments in Earth Surface Processes*, 23:1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64177-9.00001-1.

Estes, James A. 2009. "Ecological Effects of Marine Mammals." In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals (Second Edition)*, edited by William F. Perrin, Bernd Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen, 357–61. London: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-373553-9.00086-9.

Fair, Patricia A., and Magali Houde. 2018. "Chapter 5 - Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Marine Mammals." In *Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology*, edited by Maria Cristina Fossi and Cristina Panti, 117–45. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00005-X.

Farahani, Navid, Alex Braun, Dylan Jutt, Todd Huffman, Nick Reder, Zheng Liu, Yukako Yagi, and Liron Pantanowitz. 2017. "Three-Dimensional Imaging and Scanning: Current and Future Applications for Pathology." *Journal of Pathology Informatics* 8 (September):36. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpi.jpi 32 17.

Fathi, Habib, and Ioannis Brilakis. 2011. "Automated Sparse 3D Point Cloud Generation of Infrastructure Using Its Distinctive Visual Features." *Special Section: Advances and Challenges in Computing in Civil and Building Engineering* 25 (4): 760–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2011.06.001.

Fettermann, Ticiana, Lorenzo Fiori, Len Gillman, Karen A. Stockin, and Barbara Bollard. 2022. "Drone Surveys Are More Accurate Than Boat-Based Surveys of Bottlenose Dolphins (Tursiops Truncatus)." *Drones* 6 (4): 82. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones6040082.

Fitton, James M., Kwasi Appeaning Addo, Philip-Neri Jayson-Quashigah, Gustavo J. Nagy, Ofelia
Gutiérrez, Daniel Panario, Inti Carro, et al. 2021. "Challenges to Climate Change Adaptation in
Coastal Small Towns: Examples from Ghana, Uruguay, Finland, Denmark, and Alaska." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 212 (October):105787.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105787.

Fleishman, Erica, Daniel P. Costa, John Harwood, Scott Kraus, David Moretti, Leslie F. New, Robert S. Schick, et al. 2016. "Monitoring Population-Level Responses of Marine Mammals to HumanActivities."MarineMammalScience32(3):1004–21.https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12310.

Foote, Andrew D., Philip Francis Thomsen, Signe Sveegaard, Magnus Wahlberg, Jos Kielgast, Line A. Kyhn, Andreas B. Salling, Anders Galatius, Ludovic Orlando, and M. Thomas P. Gilbert. 2012. "Investigating the Potential Use of Environmental DNA (eDNA) for Genetic Monitoring of Marine Mammals." *PLOS ONE* 7 (8): e41781. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041781.

Ford, John KB. 2014. *Marine Mammals of British Columbia*. Royal BC Museum Victoria, British Columbia.

Franci, Giacomo, and Annalisa Berta. 2018. "Relative Growth of the Skull of the Common Minke Whale (Balaenoptera Acutorostrata) Using a 3D Laser Surface Scanner." *Aquatic Mammals* 43 (5): 529–37. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.44.5.2018.529.

Fukunaga, Atsuko, and John H. R. Burns. 2020. "Metrics of Coral Reef Structural Complexity Extracted from 3D Mesh Models and Digital Elevation Models." *Remote Sensing* 12 (17): 2676. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12172676.

Fung, Christian, A. Schleicher, T. Kowalski, and H. H. A. Oelschläger. 2005. "Mapping Auditory Cortex in the La Plata Dolphin (*Pontoporia Blainvillei*)." *Brain Research Bulletin*, Evolution and Development of Nervous Systems, 66 (4): 353–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.02.019.

Gailey, G., O. Sychenko, O. Tyurneva, Y. Yakovlev, V. Vertyankin, P. van der Wolf, K. Drozdov, and I. Zhmaev. 2020. "Effects of Sea Ice on Growth Rates of an Endangered Population of Gray Whales." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 1553. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58435-3.

Gillooly, James F., James H. Brown, Geoffrey B. West, Van M. Savage, and Eric L. Charnov. 2001. "Effects of Size and Temperature on Metabolic Rate." *Science* 293 (5538): 2248–51. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1061967.

Gomes, Leonardo, Olga Regina Pereira Bellon, and Luciano Silva. 2014. "3D Reconstruction Methods for Digital Preservation of Cultural Heritage: A Survey." *Depth Image Analysis* 50 (December):3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patrec.2014.03.023.

Goñi, R. 1998. "Ecosystem Effects of Marine Fisheries: An Overview." Ocean & Coastal Management 40 (1): 37–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-5691(98)00037-4.

Gormley, Andrew M., Elisabeth Slooten, Steve Dawson, Richard J. Barker, Will Rayment, Sam du Fresne, and Stefan Bräger. 2012. "First Evidence That Marine Protected Areas Can Work for Marine Mammals." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 49 (2): 474–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02121.x.

Grace, Mark A., Daniel Huber, Kevin Travis, Michael H. Doosey, Jonathan Ford, Summer Decker, and Justin Mann. 2023. "Simulating Cookiecutter Shark Bites with a 3D-Printed Jaw-Dental Model." *Zoomorphology* 142 (2): 253–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00435-022-00586-0.

Grayburn, Jennifer, Zack Lischer-Katz, Kristina Golubiewski-Davis, and Veronica Ikeshoji-Orlati. 2019. *3D/VR in the Academic Library: Emerging Practices and Trends*. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.19944.93449.

Groskreutz, Molly J., John W. Durban, Holly Fearnbach, Lance G. Barrett-Lennard, Jared R. Towers, and John K. B. Ford. 2019. "Decadal Changes in Adult Size of Salmon-Eating Killer Whales in the Eastern North Pacific." *Endangered Species Research* 40 (November):183–88. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00993.

Gulland, J. A. 1990. "Commercial Whaling-the Past, and Has It a Future?" *Mammal Review* 20 (1): 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.1990.tb00097.x.

Günen, Mehmet Akif, İlker Erkan, Şener Aliyazıcıoğlu, and Cavit Kumaş. 2023. "Investigation of Geometric Object and Indoor Mapping Capacity of Apple iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR." *Mersin Photogrammetry Journal* 5 (2): 82–89. https://doi.org/10.53093/mephoj.1354998.

Guo, Qinghua, Yanjun Su, Tianyu Hu, Hongcan Guan, Shichao Jin, Jing Zhang, Xiaoxia Zhao, et al. 2021. "Lidar Boosts 3D Ecological Observations and Modelings: A Review and Perspective." *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Magazine* 9 (1): 232–57. https://doi.org/10.1109/MGRS.2020.3032713.

Hamilton, Sheryl, and G. Barry Baker. 2019. "Technical Mitigation to Reduce Marine Mammal Bycatch and Entanglement in Commercial Fishing Gear: Lessons Learnt and Future Directions."

Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 29 (2): 223–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-019-09550-6.

Harwood, John. 2001. "Marine Mammals and Their Environment in the Twenty-First Century." *Journal of Mammalogy* 82 (3): 630–40. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542(2001)082<0630:MMATEI>2.0.CO;2.

He, Ying, Bin Liang, Jun Yang, Shunzhi Li, and Jin He. 2017. "An Iterative Closest Points Algorithm for Registration of 3D Laser Scanner Point Clouds with Geometric Features." *Sensors* 17 (8): 1862. https://doi.org/10.3390/s17081862.

Heinrichs, Bradley E., and Mike Yang. 2021. "Bias and Repeatability of Measurements from 3D Scans Made Using iOS-Based Lidar." In *SAE International Journal of Advances and Current Practices in Mobility*, 3:2219–26. https://doi.org/10.4271/2021-01-0891.

Hirtle, Nathan O., Julia E. F. Stepanuk, Eleanor I. Heywood, Fredrik Christiansen, and Lesley H. Thorne. 2022. "Integrating 3D Models with Morphometric Measurements to Improve Volumetric Estimates in Marine Mammals." *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 13 (11): 2478–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13962.

Hodgson, Amanda, David Peel, and Natalie Kelly. 2017. "Unmanned Aerial Vehicles for Surveying Marine Fauna: Assessing Detection Probability." *Ecological Applications* 27 (4): 1253– 67. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1519.

Hodgson, Jarrod C., Dirk Holman, Aleks Terauds, Lian Pin Koh, and Simon D. Goldsworthy. 2020. "Rapid Condition Monitoring of an Endangered Marine Vertebrate Using Precise, Non-Invasive Morphometrics." *Biological Conservation* 242 (February):108402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108402.

Hoppe, Hugues. 2008. "Poisson Surface Reconstruction and Its Applications." In *Proceedings of the 2008 ACM Symposium on Solid and Physical Modeling*, 10. SPM '08. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/1364901.1364904.

Huang, Lvwen, Shuqin Li, Anqi Zhu, Xinyun Fan, Chenyang Zhang, and Hongyan Wang. 2018. "Non-Contact Body Measurement for Qinchuan Cattle with LiDAR Sensor." *Sensors* 18 (9): 3014. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18093014. Hunter, Stuart, Mike Ogle, and Ted Kirk. 2017. "The Mass Stranding Event of Long-Finned Pilot Whales, Globocephalus Melas, at Golden Bay in February 2017" 24 (December).

Hutchinson, Melanie, Jon Lopez, Brad Wiley, Jean-Francois Pulvenis, Ernesto Altamirano, and Alexandre Aires-da-Silva. 2024. "knowledge and research gaps to the implementation of best handling and release practices for vulnerable species."

IJsseldijk, Lonneke L., Jan van den Broek, Marja J. L. Kik, Mardik F. Leopold, Elisa Bravo Rebolledo, Andrea Gröne, and Hans Heesterbeek. 2024. "Using Marine Mammal Necropsy Data in Animal Health Surveillance: The Case of the Harbor Porpoise in the Southern North Sea." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 10 (January). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1306294.

IJsseldijk, Lonneke L., Andrew C. Brownlow, and Sandro Mazzariol. 2019. "European Best Practice on Cetacean Post-Mortem Investigation and Tissue Sampling." Research Reports or Papers. ACCOBAMS/ASCOBANS. October 2019. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/zh4ra.

Irschick, Duncan J., Fredrik Christiansen, Neil Hammerschlag, Johnson Martin, Peter T. Madsen, Jeanette Wyneken, Annabelle Brooks, et al. 2022. "3D Visualization Processes for Recreating and Studying Organismal Form." *iScience* 25 (9): 104867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.104867.

Irschick, Duncan, Johnson Martin, Jakob Kristensen, Peter, T Madsen, and Fredrik Christiansen. 2020. "Creation of Accurate 3D Models of Harbor Porpoises (Phocoena Phocoena) Using 3D Photogrammetry." *Marine Mammal Science* 37 (November). https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12759.

Jiang, Yixing, Michael Lück, and E. C. M. Parsons. 2007. "Public Awareness, Education, and Marine Mammals in Captivity." *Tourism Review International* 11 (3): 237–49. https://doi.org/10.3727/154427207783948829.

Johnston, David R., William Rayment, and Stephen M. Dawson. 2022. "Morphometrics and Body Condition of Southern Right Whales on the Calving Grounds at Port Ross, Auckland Islands." *Mammalian Biology* 102 (4): 1525–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42991-021-00175-6.

Kang, Zhizhong, Juntao Yang, Zhou Yang, and Sai Cheng. 2020. "A Review of Techniques for 3D Reconstruction of Indoor Environments." *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* 9 (5): 330. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi9050330.
Kapoor, Saakshi, Mukesh Kumar, and Manisha Kaushal. 2023. "Deep Learning Based Whale Detection from Satellite Imagery." *Sustainable Computing: Informatics and Systems* 38 (April):100858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suscom.2023.100858.

Karnowski, Jeremy, Christine Johnson, and Edwin Hutchins. 2016. "Automated Video Surveillance for the Study of Marine Mammal Behavior and Cognition." *Animal Behavior and Cognition* 3 (4): 255–64. https://doi.org/10.12966/abc.05.11.2016.

Kaschner, Kristin, Derek P. Tittensor, Jonathan Ready, Tim Gerrodette, and Boris Worm. 2011. "Current and Future Patterns of Global Marine Mammal Biodiversity." *PLOS ONE* 6 (5): e19653. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019653.

Kazhdan, Michael, Matthew Bolitho, and Hugues Hoppe. 2006. "Poisson Surface Reconstruction." In *Proceedings of the Fourth Eurographics Symposium on Geometry Processing*. Vol. 7.

Kelly, Rachel, Aysha Fleming, Gretta T. Pecl, Julia von Gönner, and Aletta Bonn. 2020. "Citizen Science and Marine Conservation: A Global Review." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 375 (1814): 20190461. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0461.

Khan, Christin B., Kimberly T. Goetz, Hannah C. Cubaynes, Caleb Robinson, Erin Murnane, Tyler Aldrich, Meredith Sackett, et al. 2023. "A Biologist's Guide to the Galaxy: Leveraging Artificial Intelligence and Very High-Resolution Satellite Imagery to Monitor Marine Mammals from Space." *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering* 11 (3): 595. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse11030595.

Kot, Brian C. W., Henry C. L. Tsui, Tabris Y. T. Chung, Wo Wing Cheng, Thomas Mui, Madelyn Y. L. Lo, Tadasu K. Yamada, Kent Mori, and Richard A. L. Brown. 2020. "Photogrammetric Three-Dimensional Modeling and Printing of Cetacean Skeleton Using an Omura's Whale Stranded in Hong Kong Waters as an Example." *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, no. 163 (September), e61700. https://doi.org/10.3791/61700.

Kühn, Susanne, and Jan Andries van Franeker. 2020. "Quantitative Overview of Marine Debris Ingested by Marine Megafauna." *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 151 (February):110858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110858. Küker, Susanne, Celine Faverjon, Lenz Furrer, John Berezowski, Horst Posthaus, Fabio Rinaldi, and Flavie Vial. 2018. "The Value of Necropsy Reports for Animal Health Surveillance." *BMC Veterinary Research* 14 (1): 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-018-1505-1.

Kwon, Kiyoun, and Duhwan Mun. 2022. "Iterative Offset-Based Method for Reconstructing a Mesh Model from the Point Cloud of a Pig." *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 198 (July):106996. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2022.106996.

Laidre, Kristin L., and Mads Peter Heide-Jørgensen. 2005. "Arctic Sea Ice Trends and NarwhalVulnerability."BiologicalConservation121(4):509–17.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2004.06.003.

Laidre, Kristin L., Harry Stern, Kit M. Kovacs, Lloyd Lowry, Sue E. Moore, Eric V. Regehr, Steven H. Ferguson, et al. 2015. "Arctic marine mammal population status, sea ice habitat loss, and conservation recommendations for the 21st century." *Conservation Biology* 29 (3): 724–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12474.

Lambertsen, Richard H., and Raymond J. Hintz. 2004. "Maxillomandibular Cam Articulation Discovered in North Atlantic Minke Whale." *Journal of Mammalogy* 85 (3): 446–52. https://doi.org/10.1644/BRB-125.

Lee, Kiah, Juan José Alava, Paul Cottrell, Lauren Cottrell, Richard Grace, Ivona Zysk, and Stephen Raverty. 2023. "Emerging Contaminants and New POPs (PFAS and HBCDD) in Endangered Southern Resident and Bigg's (Transient) Killer Whales (Orcinus Orca): In Utero Maternal Transfer and Pollution Management Implications." *Environmental Science & Technology* 57 (1): 360–74. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c04126.

Lee, Kiah, Stephen Raverty, Paul Cottrell, Zeinab Zoveidadianpour, Brendan Cottrell, Dana Price, and Juan José Alava. 2023. "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH) Source Identification and a Maternal Transfer Case Study in Threatened Killer Whales (Orcinus Orca) of British Columbia, Canada." *Scientific Reports* 13 (1): 22580. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-45306-w.

Lefebvre, Kathi A., Christine L. Powell, Mark Busman, Gregory J. Doucette, Peter D. R. Moeller, Joel B. Silver, Peter E. Miller, et al. 1999. "Detection of Domoic Acid in Northern Anchovies and

California Sea Lions Associated with an Unusual Mortality Event." *Natural Toxins* 7 (3): 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1522-7189(199905/06)7:3<85::AID-NT39>3.0.CO;2-Q.

Leguia, Mariana, Alejandra Garcia-Glaessner, Breno Muñoz-Saavedra, Diana Juarez, Patricia Barrera, Carlos Calvo-Mac, Javier Jara, et al. 2023. "Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A (H5N1) in Marine Mammals and Seabirds in Peru." *Nature Communications* 14 (September):5489. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-41182-0.

Lehtola, Ville V., Shayan Nikoohemat, and Andreas Nüchter. 2021. "Indoor 3D: Overview on Scanning and Reconstruction Methods." In *Handbook of Big Geospatial Data*, edited by Martin Werner and Yao-Yi Chiang, 55–97. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55462-0 3.

Liu, Weiping, Jia Sun, Wanyi Li, Ting Hu, and Peng Wang. 2019. "Deep Learning on Point Clouds and Its Application: A Survey." *Sensors* 19 (19). https://doi.org/10.3390/s19194188.

Liu, Weiquan, Yu Zang, Zhangyue Xiong, Xuesheng Bian, Chenglu Wen, Xiaolei Lu, Cheng Wang, José Marcato, Wesley Nunes Gonçalves, and Jonathan Li. 2023. "3D Building Model Generation from MLS Point Cloud and 3D Mesh Using Multi-Source Data Fusion." *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 116 (February):103171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2022.103171.

Lopac, Nikola, Irena Jurdana, Adrian Brnelić, and Tomislav Krljan. 2022. "Application of Laser Systems for Detection and Ranging in the Modern Road Transportation and Maritime Sector." *Sensors* 22 (16): 5946. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22165946.

Lovecraft, Amy Lauren, and Chanda L. Meek. 2011. "The Human Dimensions of Marine Mammal Management in a Time of Rapid Change: Comparing Policies in Canada, Finland and the United States." *Marine Policy*, The Human Dimensions of Northern Marine Mammal Management In A Time Of Rapid Change, 35 (4): 427–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2010.10.022.

Loza, Cleopatra, Marcelo Sánchez-Villagra, Alejo Scarano, Magalí Romero, Claudio Barbeito, and Alfredo Carlini. 2023. "The Brain of Fur Seals, Seals, and Walrus (Pinnipedia): A Comparative Anatomical and Phylogenetic Study of Cranial Endocasts of Semiaquatic Mammals." Journal of Mammalian Evolution 30 (August). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-023-09679-z.

Luetzenburg, Gregor, Aart Kroon, and Anders A. Bjørk. 2021. "Evaluation of the Apple iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR for an Application in Geosciences." *Scientific Reports* 11 (1): 22221. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-01763-9.

Ma, Zhiliang, and Shilong Liu. 2018. "A Review of 3D Reconstruction Techniques in Civil Engineering and Their Applications." *Advanced Engineering Informatics* 37 (August):163–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2018.05.005.

MacLeod, Colin D. 2009. "Global Climate Change, Range Changes and Potential Implications for the Conservation of Marine Cetaceans: A Review and Synthesis." *Endangered Species Research* 7 (2): 125–36. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00197.

Magera, Anna M., Joanna E. Mills Flemming, Kristin Kaschner, Line B. Christensen, and Heike K. Lotze. 2013. "Recovery Trends in Marine Mammal Populations." *PLOS ONE* 8 (10): e77908. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077908.

Mancia, Annalaura. 2018. "New Technologies for Monitoring Marine Mammal Health." *Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology*, 291–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00011-5.

McCauley, Douglas J., Malin L. Pinsky, Stephen R. Palumbi, James A. Estes, Francis H. Joyce, and Robert R. Warner. 2015. "Marine Defaunation: Animal Loss in the Global Ocean." *Science* 347 (6219): 1255641. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255641.

McClintock, Brett T., Deborah J. F. Russell, Jason Matthiopoulos, and Ruth King. 2013. "Combining Individual Animal Movement and Ancillary Biotelemetry Data to Investigate Population-Level Activity Budgets." *Ecology* 94 (4): 838–49. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0954.1.

Merella, Marco, Simone Farina, Patrizia Scaglia, Gaia Caneve, Giada Bernardini, Alice Pieri, Alberto Collareta, and Giovanni Bianucci. 2023. "Structured-Light 3D Scanning as a Tool for Creating a Digital Collection of Modern and Fossil Cetacean Skeletons (Natural History Museum, University of Pisa)." *Heritage* 6 (10): 6762–76. https://doi.org/10.3390/heritage6100353.

Mikalai, Zamotsin, Dyagilev Andrey, Hafez S. Hawas, Holovenko Tetiana, and Shovkomud Oleksandr. 2022. "Human Body Measurement with the iPhone 12 Pro LiDAR Scanner." *AIP Conference Proceedings* 2430 (1): 090009. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0078310.

Mills, Nathaniel, Sheila Semans, Maureen Flannery, Crans Squire, Sarah Grimes, and Jeffrey Jacobsen. 2022. "A Tale of Two Whales: Applying Digital Imaging and 3D Printing to Cetacean Research and Education." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 20 (7): 422–30. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2508.

MMRP. 2021. "3D-Laser Scanning Is Helping Us to Better Understand the Health Status of Marine Mammals." Mysite. September 14, 2021. https://www.mmrphawaii.org/post/3d-laser-scanning-is-helping-us-to-better-understand-the-health-status-of-marine-mammals.

Montie, Eric W., Nicola Pussini, Gerald E. Schneider, Thomas W.K. Battey, Sophie Dennison, Jerome Barakos, and Frances Gulland. 2009. "Neuroanatomy and Volumes of Brain Structures of a Live California Sea Lion (Zalophus Californianus) From Magnetic Resonance Images." *The Anatomical Record* 292 (10): 1523–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.20937.

Moore, Jeffrey E. 2013. "Management Reference Points to Account for Direct and Indirect Impacts of Fishing on Marine Mammals." *Marine Mammal Science* 29 (3): 446–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2012.00586.x.

Moore, Sue E. 2008. "Marine Mammals as Ecosystem Sentinels." *Journal of Mammalogy* 89 (3): 534–40. https://doi.org/10.1644/07-MAMM-S-312R1.1.

Morin, Phillip A., Morgan L. McCarthy, Charissa W. Fung, John W. Durban, Kim M. Parsons, William F. Perrin, Barbara L. Taylor, Thomas A. Jefferson, and Frederick I. Archer. 2024. "Revised Taxonomy of Eastern North Pacific Killer Whales (Orcinus Orca): Bigg's and Resident Ecotypes Deserve Species Status." *Royal Society Open Science* 11 (3): 231368. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.231368.

Moss, Brian. 2017. "Marine Reptiles, Birds and Mammals and Nutrient Transfers among the Seas and the Land: An Appraisal of Current Knowledge." *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, Ecological responses to environmental change in marine systems, 492 (July):63–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2017.01.018. Nelms, Sarah E., Joanna Alfaro-Shigueto, John P. Y. Arnould, Isabel C. Avila, Susan Bengtson Nash, Elizabeth Campbell, Matt I. D. Carter, et al. 2021. "Marine Mammal Conservation: Over the Horizon." *Endangered Species Research* 44 (March):291–325. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr01115.

Neves, Silvana, Yann Doh, Simona Sacchini, Eric Delory, Antonio Fernández, and Ayoze Castro-Alonso. 2023. "Advanced Technologies for Cetacean Monitoring: A One-Health and Multidisciplinary Approach for Ocean Effective Surveillance." *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering* 11 (7): 1431. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse11071431.

Niven, Laura, Teresa E. Steele, Hannes Finke, Tim Gernat, and Jean-Jacques Hublin. 2009. "Virtual Skeletons: Using a Structured Light Scanner to Create a 3D Faunal Comparative Collection." *Journal of Archaeological Science* 36 (9): 2018–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2009.05.021.

Norman, Stephanie A., Jessie Huggins, Tim E. Carpenter, James T. Case, Dyanna M. Lambourn, Jim Rice, John Calambokidis, et al. 2012. "The Application of GIS and Spatiotemporal Analyses to Investigations of Unusual Marine Mammal Strandings and Mortality Events." *Marine Mammal Science* 28 (3): E251–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2011.00507.x.

Nowacek, Douglas P., Fredrik Christiansen, Lars Bejder, Jeremy A. Goldbogen, and Ari S. Friedlaender. 2016. "Studying Cetacean Behaviour: New Technological Approaches and Conservation Applications." *Animal Behaviour* 120 (October):235–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.07.019.

Oliver, John S., and Peter N. Slattery. 1985. "Destruction and Opportunity on the Sea Floor: Effects of Gray Whale Feeding." *Ecology* 66 (6): 1965–75. https://doi.org/10.2307/2937392.

Palacios, Daniel M., Mark F. Baumgartner, Kristin L. Laidre, and Edward J. Gregr. 2013. "Beyond Correlation: Integrating Environmentally and Behaviourally Mediated Processes in Models of Marine Mammal Distributions." *Endangered Species Research* 22 (3): 191–203. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00558.

Parks, Susan E., Darlene R. Ketten, Jennifer T. O'Malley, and Julie Arruda. 2007. "Anatomical Predictions of Hearing in the North Atlantic Right Whale." *The Anatomical Record* 290 (6): 734–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.20527.

Pendleton, Daniel E., Elizabeth E. Holmes, Jessica Redfern, and Jinlun Zhang. 2020. "Using Modelled Prey to Predict the Distribution of a Highly Mobile Marine Mammal." *Diversity and Distributions* 26 (11): 1612–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13149.

Pennino, Maria Grazia, Antonella Arcangeli, Vinícius Prado Fonseca, Ilaria Campana, Graham J. Pierce, Andrea Rotta, and Jose Maria Bellido. 2017. "A Spatially Explicit Risk Assessment Approach: Cetaceans and Marine Traffic in the Pelagos Sanctuary (Mediterranean Sea)." *PLOS ONE* 12 (6): e0179686. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179686.

Pérez-Ruiz, M., D. Tarrat-Martín, M. J. Sánchez-Guerrero, and M. Valera. 2020. "Advances in Horse Morphometric Measurements Using LiDAR." *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 174 (July):105510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2020.105510.

Peterson, Charles H. 2001. "The 'Exxon Valdez' Oil Spill in Alaska: Acute, Indirect and Chronic Effects on the Ecosystem." In *Advances in Marine Biology*, 39:1–103. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2881(01)39008-9.

Peterson, Charles H., Stanley D. Rice, Jeffrey W. Short, Daniel Esler, James L. Bodkin, Brenda E. Ballachey, and David B. Irons. 2003. "Long-Term Ecosystem Response to the Exxon Valdez Oil Spill." *Science* 302 (5653): 2082–86. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1084282.

Pirotta, E., C. G. Booth, J. Calambokidis, D. P. Costa, J. A. Fahlbusch, A. S. Friedlaender, J. A. Goldbogen, et al. 2022. "From Individual Responses to Population Effects: Integrating a Decade of Multidisciplinary Research on Blue Whales and Sonar." *Animal Conservation* 25 (6): 796–810. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12785.

Pirotta, Vanessa, Wayne Reynolds, Geoffrey Ross, Ian Jonsen, Alana Grech, David Slip, and Robert Harcourt. 2020. "A Citizen Science Approach to Long-Term Monitoring of Humpback Whales (Megaptera Novaeangliae) off Sydney, Australia." *Marine Mammal Science* 36 (2): 472–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12651.

Pontalti, Mônica, and André Silva Barreto. 2022. "Use of Unnamed Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) to Monitor Marine Megafauna Strandings in Beach Monitoring Programs." *Journal of Coastal Conservation* 26 (6): 80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-022-00924-w.

Postma, M., A. S. W. Tordiffe, M. S. Hofmeyr, R. R. Reisinger, L. C. Bester, P. E. Buss, and P. J. N. de Bruyn. 2015. "Terrestrial Mammal Three-Dimensional Photogrammetry: Multispecies Mass Estimation." *Ecosphere* 6 (12): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00368.1.

Priede, I. G., and J. French. 1991. "Tracking of Marine Animals by Satellite." *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 12 (4): 667–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431169108929684.

Pugliares, Katie R., Andrea Bogomolni, Kathleen M. Touhey, Sarah M. Herzig, and Charles T.
Harry. 2007. "Marine Mammal Necropsy: An Introductory Guide for Stranding Responders and
Field Biologists." Report. Woods HOle Oceanographic Institution.
https://doi.org/10.1575/1912/1823.

Rassineux, A. 1997. "3D Mesh Adaptation. Optimization of Tetrahedral Meshes by Advancing Front Technique." *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering* 141 (3): 335–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-7825(96)01116-4.

Raverty, Stephen, Pádraig Duignan, Denise Greig, Jessica L. Huggins, Kathy Burek Huntington, Michael Garner, John Calambokidis, et al. 2024. "Gray Whale (Eschrichtius Robustus) Post-Mortem Findings from December 2018 through 2021 during the Unusual Mortality Event in the Eastern North Pacific." Edited by Vitor Hugo Rodrigues Paiva. *PLOS ONE* 19 (3): e0295861. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0295861.

Raverty, Stephen, Pádraig J. Duignan, Paul D. Jepson, and Maria Morell. 2018. "Marine Mammal Gross Necropsy." In *CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine*, 3rd ed. CRC Press.

Ray, G. Carleton, Jerry McCormick-Ray, Peter Berg, and Howard E. Epstein. 2006. "Pacific Walrus: Benthic Bioturbator of Beringia." *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, A Tribute to Richard M. Warwick, 330 (1): 403–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2005.12.043.

Reeves, Randall R., Kate McClellan, and Timothy B. Werner. 2013. "Marine Mammal Bycatch in Gillnet and Other Entangling Net Fisheries, 1990 to 2011." *Endangered Species Research* 20 (1): 71–97. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00481.

Rhodes-Reese, Melissa, David Clay, Curry Cunningham, Janet Moriles-Miller, Cheryl Reese, Joe Roman, Joseph D. Warren, and Heidi C. Pearson. 2021. "Examining the Role of Marine Mammals and Seabirds in Southeast Alaska's Marine Ecosystem Dynamics." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8 (December). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.720277.

Rodofili, Esteban N., Vincent Lecours, and Michelle LaRue. 2022. "Remote Sensing Techniques for Automated Marine Mammals Detection: A Review of Methods and Current Challenges." *PeerJournal* 10 (June). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.13540.

Roman, Joe, and James J. McCarthy. 2010. "The Whale Pump: Marine Mammals Enhance Primary Productivity in a Coastal Basin." *PLOS ONE* 5 (10): e13255. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013255.

Romero, Aldemaro. 2012. "When Whales Became Mammals: The Scientific Journey of Cetaceans From Fish to Mammals in the History of Science." In *New Approaches to the Study of Marine Mammals*. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/50811.

Ropert-Coudert, Yan, Michael Beaulieu, Nicolas Hanuise, and Akiko Kato. 2009. "Diving into the World of Biologging." *Endangered Species Research* 10 (April):21–27. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00188.

Rose, Naomi, Richard Farinato, and Susan Sherwin. 2006. "The Case against Marine Mammals in Captivity."

Rosel, Patricia E., Barbara L. Taylor, Brittany L. Hancock-Hanser, Phillip A. Morin, Frederick I. Archer, Aimee R. Lang, Sarah L. Mesnick, et al. 2017. "A Review of Molecular Genetic Markers and Analytical Approaches That Have Been Used for Delimiting Marine Mammal Subspecies and Species." *Marine Mammal Science* 33 (S1): 56–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12412.

Rosenberg, Justin, Martin Haulena, Linda Hoang, Muhammad Morshed, Erin Zabek, and Stephen Raverty. 2016. "Cryptococcus Gattii Type VGIIa Infection in Harbor Seals (Phoca Vitulina) in British Columbia, Canada." *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 52 (May). https://doi.org/10.7589/2015-11-299.

Rowles, Teri K., Frances M. Van Dolah, and Aleta A. Hohn. 2001. "Gross Necropsy and Specimen Collection Protocols." In *CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine*, 2nd ed. CRC Press.

Russo, Luca Francesco, Carlo Meloro, Mara De Silvestri, Elizabeth A. Chadwick, and Anna Loy. 2022. "Better Sturdy or Slender? Eurasian Otter Skull Plasticity in Response to Feeding Ecology." *PLOS ONE* 17 (9): e0274893. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0274893.

Ryan, Kasey P., Steven H. Ferguson, William R. Koski, Brent G. Young, James D. Roth, and Cortney A. Watt. 2022. "Use of Drones for the Creation and Development of a Photographic Identification Catalogue for an Endangered Whale Population." *Arctic Science* 8 (4): 1191–1201. https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2021-0047.

Saliki, Jeremiah T., Emily J. Cooper, and Jonathan P. Gustavson. 2002. "Emerging Morbillivirus Infections of Marine Mammals." *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 969 (1): 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb04350.x.

Sayigh, Laela, Mary Ann Daher, Julie Allen, Helen Gordon, Katherine Joyce, Claire Stuhlmann, and Peter Tyack. 2017. "The Watkins Marine Mammal Sound Database: An Online, Freely Accessible Resource." *Proceedings of Meetings on Acoustics* 27 (1): 040013. https://doi.org/10.1121/2.0000358.

Schaap, Iris, Larissa Buedenbender, Sarah Johann, Henner Hollert, and Gulsah Dogruer. 2023. "Impact of Chemical Pollution on Threatened Marine Mammals: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 459 (October):132203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2023.132203.

Schmidt-Nielsen, Knut. 1972. "Locomotion: Energy Cost of Swimming, Flying, and Running." *Science* 177 (4045): 222–28. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.177.4045.222.

Schoeman, Renée P., Claire Patterson-Abrolat, and Stephanie Plön. 2020. "A Global Review of Vessel Collisions With Marine Animals." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7 (May). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00292.

Sciara, Giuseppe Notarbartolo di, Erich Hoyt, Randall Reeves, Jeff Ardron, Helene Marsh, Dag Vongraven, and Bradley Barr. 2016. "Place-Based Approaches to Marine Mammal Conservation." *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 26 (S2): 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2642.

Shero, Michelle R., Linnea E. Pearson, Daniel P. Costa, and Jennifer M. Burns. 2014. "Improving the Precision of Our Ecosystem Calipers: A Modified Morphometric Technique for Estimating

Marine Mammal Mass and Body Composition." *PLOS ONE* 9 (3): e91233. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091233.

Shin, Min-jung, Woojune Park, Suk-ju Kang, Joonsoo Kim, Kugjin Yun, and Won-Sik Cheong. 2021. "Understanding the Limitations of SfM-Based Camera Calibration on Multi-View Stereo Reconstruction." In 2021 36th International Technical Conference on Circuits/Systems, Computers and Communications (ITC-CSCC), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1109/ITC-CSCC52171.2021.9501460.

Silber, Gregory K., Matthew D. Lettrich, Peter O. Thomas, Jason D. Baker, Mark Baumgartner, Elizabeth A. Becker, Peter Boveng, et al. 2017. "Projecting Marine Mammal Distribution in a Changing Climate." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 4 (December). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00413.

Simmonds, Mark, Sarah Dolman, Michael Jasny, E. Parsons, Lindy Weilgart, Andrew Wright, andRussell Leaper. 2014. "Marine Noise Pollution - Increasing Recognition But Need for MorePracticalAction."EcologyCollection,January.https://www.wellbeingintlstudiesrepository.org/acwp_ehlm/9.

Simmonds, Mark P., and Stephen J. Isaac. 2007. "The Impacts of Climate Change on Marine Mammals: Early Signs of Significant Problems." *Oryx* 41 (1): 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605307001524.

Simonson, William D., Harriet D. Allen, and David A. Coomes. 2014. "Applications of Airborne Lidar for the Assessment of Animal Species Diversity." *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5 (8): 719–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12219.

Slavík, Martin, Karel Kuželka, Roman Modlinger, and Peter Surový. 2023. "Spatial Analysis of Dense LiDAR Point Clouds for Tree Species Group Classification Using Individual Tree Metrics." *Forests* 14 (8): 1581. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14081581.

Southall, Brandon L., David Moretti, Bruce Abraham, John Calambokidis, Stacy L. DeRuiter, and Peter L. Tyack. 2012. "Marine Mammal Behavioral Response Studies in Southern California: Advances in Technology and Experimental Methods." *Marine Technology Society Journal* 46 (4): 48–59. https://doi.org/10.4031/MTSJ.46.4.1.

Srinivasan, Mridula. 2018. "Marine Mammal Science Without Borders." *Aquatic Mammals* 44 (November):736–44. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.44.6.2018.736.

Stacy, Brian A. (Brian Adams), Jennifer L. Keene, and Barbara A. Schroeder. 2016. "Report of the Technical Expert Workshop: Developing National Criteria for Assessing Post-Interaction Mortality of Sea Turtles in Trawl, Net, and Pot/Trap Fisheries: Shepherdstown, West Virginia, USA, 18-22 August 2015," March. https://doi.org/10.7289/V5/TM-NMFS-OPR-53.

Stelle, Lei Lani. 2017. "Using Citizen Science to Study the Impact of Vessel Traffic on Marine Mammal Populations." In *Citizen Science for Coastal and Marine Conservation*. Routledge.

Stockin, Karen A., Matthew D. M. Pawley, Rebecca M. Jarvis, and Rebecca M. Boys. 2022. "Examining the Role of Human Perceptions during Cetacean Stranding Response in New Zealand." *Marine Policy* 145 (November):105283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2022.105283.

Stolen, Megan. 2021. "Forensic Science in Marine Mammalogy: Applications and Limitations." In *Wildlife Biodiversity Conservation: Multidisciplinary and Forensic Approaches*, edited by Susan C. Underkoffler and Hayley R. Adams, 383–99. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-64682-0 14.

Storlund, Rhea L., Paul E. Cottrell, Brendan Cottrell, Myron Roth, Taylor Lehnhart, Heindrich Snyman, Andrew W. Trites, and Stephen A. Raverty. 2024. "Aquaculture Related Humpback Whale Entanglements in Coastal Waters of British Columbia from 2008–2021." *PLOS ONE* 19 (3): e0297768. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0297768.

Stoskopf, Michael K. 1989. "Clinical Imaging in Zoological Medicine: A Review." *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine* 20 (4): 396–412.

Stronen, Astrid V., Anita J. Norman, Eric Vander Wal, and Paul C. Paquet. 2022. "The Relevance of Genetic Structure in Ecotype Designation and Conservation Management." *Evolutionary Applications* 15 (2): 185–202. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13339.

Svancara, Leona K., Ree Brannon J., Michael Scott, Craig R. Groves, Reed F. Noss, and Robert L. Pressey. 2005. "Policy-Driven versus Evidence-Based Conservation: A Review of Political Targets and Biological Needs." *BioScience* 55 (11): 989–95. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0989:PVECAR]2.0.CO;2.

Sweeney, Kathryn L., Van T. Helker, Wayne L. Perryman, Donald J. LeRoi, Lowell W. Fritz, Tom S. Gelatt, and Robyn P. Angliss. 2016. "Flying beneath the Clouds at the Edge of the World: Using a Hexacopter to Supplement Abundance Surveys of Steller Sea Lions (Eumetopias Jubatus) in Alaska." *Journal of Unmanned Vehicle Systems Virtual Issue* 01 (01): 70–81. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2015-0010@juvs-vi.2016.01.issue-1.

Tavani, Stefano, Andrea Billi, Amerigo Corradetti, Marco Mercuri, Alessandro Bosman, Marco Cuffaro, Thomas Seers, and Eugenio Carminati. 2022. "Smartphone Assisted Fieldwork: Towards the Digital Transition of Geoscience Fieldwork Using LiDAR-Equipped iPhones." *Earth-Science Reviews* 227 (April):103969. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2022.103969.

Teman, Sarah, Joseph Gaydos, Stephanie Norman, Jessica Huggins, Dyanna Lambourn, John Calambokidis, JKB Ford, et al. 2021. "Epizootiology of a Cryptococcus Gattii Outbreak in Porpoises and Dolphins from the Salish Sea." *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 146 (October). https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03630.

Teppati Losè, Lorenzo, Alessandra Spreafico, Filiberto Chiabrando, and Fabio Giulio Tonolo. 2022. "Apple LiDAR Sensor for 3D Surveying: Tests and Results in the Cultural Heritage Domain." *Remote Sensing* 14 (17): 4157. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14174157.

Thrun, Sebastian. 2008. "Simultaneous Localization and Mapping." In *Robotics and Cognitive Approaches to Spatial Mapping*, edited by Margaret E. Jefferies and Wai-Kiang Yeap, 13–41. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-75388-9 3.

Trites, Andrew W., Villy Christensen, and Daniel Pauly. 1997. "Competition between Fisheries and Marine Mammals for Prey and Primary Production in the Pacific Ocean." *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* 22 (December):173–87. https://doi.org/10.2960/J.v22.a14.

Tsui, Henry C. L., Brian C. W. Kot, Tabris Y. T. Chung, and Derek K. P. Chan. 2020. "Virtopsy as a Revolutionary Tool for Cetacean Stranding Programs: Implementation and Management." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7 (November). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.542015.

Turner, Darren, Arko Lucieer, and Christopher Watson. 2012. "An Automated Technique for Generating Georectified Mosaics from Ultra-High Resolution Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Imagery, Based on Structure from Motion (SfM) Point Clouds." *Remote Sensing* 4 (5): 1392–1410.

Ullman, S., and Sydney Brenner. 1997. "The Interpretation of Structure from Motion." *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences* 203 (1153): 405–26. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1979.0006.

VanWormer, E., J. a. K. Mazet, A. Hall, V. A. Gill, P. L. Boveng, J. M. London, T. Gelatt, et al. 2019. "Viral Emergence in Marine Mammals in the North Pacific May Be Linked to Arctic Sea Ice Reduction." *Scientific Reports* 9 (1): 15569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51699-4.

Vicari, Deborah, Eline D. Lorenzen, Mikkel Skovrind, Paul Szpak, Marie Louis, Morten T. Olsen, Richard P. Brown, et al. 2022. "Skull Ecomorphological Variation of Narwhals (Monodon Monoceros, Linnaeus 1758) and Belugas (Delphinapterus Leucas, Pallas 1776) Reveals Phenotype of Their Hybrids." *PLOS ONE* 17 (8): e0273122. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273122.

Vriend, Sebastiaan de, Sjors Heijboer, Dick S J Groenenberg, Bram Langeveld, and Barbara Gravendeel. n.d. "3D Bone Analysis for Improving Species -identification: A Case Study on Scapulae of -selected Small Toothed Whales Occurring along the Dutch Coast."

Waltzek, T. B., G. Cortés-Hinojosa, J. F. X. Wellehan Jr., and Gregory C. Gray. 2012. "Marine Mammal Zoonoses: A Review of Disease Manifestations." *Zoonoses and Public Health* 59 (8): 521–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2012.01492.x.

Wandinger, Ulla. 2005. "Introduction to Lidar." In *Lidar: Range-Resolved Optical Remote Sensing* of the Atmosphere, 1–18. Springer.

Williams, Rosie S., Andrew Brownlow, Andrew Baillie, Jonathan L. Barber, James Barnett, Nicholas J. Davison, Robert Deaville, et al. 2023. "Spatiotemporal Trends Spanning Three Decades Show Toxic Levels of Chemical Contaminants in Marine Mammals." *Environmental Science & Technology* 57 (49): 20736–49. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.3c01881.

Williams, Terrie M. 1999. "The Evolution of Cost Efficient Swimming in Marine Mammals: Limits to Energetic Optimization." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 354 (1380): 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1999.0371.

Woodward, Becky L., Jeremy P. Winn, Michael J. Moore, and Michael L. Peterson. 2006. "Experimental Modeling of Large Whale Entanglement Injuries." *Marine Mammal Science* 22 (2): 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2006.00020.x. Worthy, Graham. 1999. "Marine Mammal Stranding Networks." In, 396–411.

Wund, S., E. Méheust, C. Dars, W. Dabin, F. Demaret, B. Guichard, T. Jauniaux, et al. 2023.
"Strengthening the Health Surveillance of Marine Mammals in the Waters of Metropolitan France
by Monitoring Strandings." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 10 (May).
https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1116819.

Xiao, Xiongwu, Bingxuan Guo, Deren Li, Linhui Li, Nan Yang, Jianchen Liu, Peng Zhang, and Zhe Peng. 2016. "Multi-View Stereo Matching Based on Self-Adaptive Patch and Image Grouping for Multiple Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Imagery." *Remote Sensing* 8 (2): 89. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8020089.

Zantis, Laura J., Emma L. Carroll, Sarah E. Nelms, and Thijs Bosker. 2021. "Marine Mammals and Microplastics: A Systematic Review and Call for Standardisation." *Environmental Pollution* 269 (January):116142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.116142.

Zhang, Changqun, Haojie Zhou, Fredrik Christiansen, Yujiang Hao, Kexiong Wang, Zhangbing Kou, Ruipeng Chen, Jie Min, Randall Davis, and Ding Wang. 2023. "Marine Mammal Morphometrics: 3D Modeling and Estimation Validation." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 10 (June). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1105629.

Zhang, Changqun, Haojie Zhou, Sheel Shah, Randall Davis, Yujiang Hao, Kaung-Ti Yung, Kexiong Wang, and Ding Wang. 2023. "Computer Vision-assisted Photogrammetry and Oneimage 3D Modeling in Marine Mammals." *Marine Mammal Science* 40 (November). https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.13083.

Zhou, Linglong, Guoxin Wu, Yunbo Zuo, Xuanyu Chen, and Hongle Hu. 2024. "A Comprehensive Review of Vision-Based 3D Reconstruction Methods." *Sensors* 24 (7): 2314. https://doi.org/10.3390/s24072314.